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FOREWORD


For five and a half tumultuous years, I had the honor of serving first as National Security Adviser and then as Secretary of State to President Richard M. Nixon. I was then invited to continue in office by President Gerald R. Ford.


This volume is an account of the period in which Gerald Ford healed the nation and launched it on a course that, in subsequent administrations, culminated in victory in the Cold War and a dominant role in shaping the structure of the world. In the brief period of thirty months vouchsafed to him in office, Ford navigated his country through a series of extraordinary events: ethnic conflicts in Cyprus and Lebanon; a decisive step toward Middle East peace; a major agreement on strategic arms control; the end of America’s ordeal in Indochina; a worldwide energy crisis; the signing of the Helsinki Final Act at the first European Security Conference, now generally recognized as a turning point of the Cold War; Soviet and Cuban depredations in Africa; the transition to majority rule in Southern Africa; a new permanent arrangement for the Panama Canal; and the first G-7 economic summit among the great industrial democracies. This is why Ford’s presidency will be remembered as ushering in an age of renewal.


After completing two volumes of memoirs on the Nixon years, I waited for over a decade before beginning this account of the Ford presidency. I did so in large part to permit the evaluation of the entire period of my government service from a philosophical perspective rather than according to the tactics of the moment. For the deepest debates of the time concerned the national purpose—for which the growing obsession with sensational media and congressional exposés was a surrogate.


As I reviewed the source material, the Ford presidency emerged less as the ending of a period than as an overture to what is now described as the “new world order.” Local ethnic conflicts began to take on large international dimensions and have proliferated since the end of the Cold War; the debate over the role of human rights in foreign policy started in earnest then and has continued since; victory in the Cold War was foreshadowed, if not yet recognized, as the Brezhnev regime began to stagnate internally; today’s Middle East diplomacy could be drawn from a script of the Ford period with only some of the names of the principal actors changed; with respect to the Kurdish relations with Iraq, even the names have remained the same; the complexities of long-range China policy began to emerge; the relative roles of Congress and the executive branch in the conduct of foreign policy have still not yet been settled. Obviously history has not stood still, and the collapse of the Soviet Union has opened new dimensions not imaginable in the mid-1970s.


As I wrote in the foreword to the first volume of this series, the perspective of the participant in great events risks merging the impulse to defend with the compulsion to explain. I have sought to the extent possible to do the latter and to explain not only what we did but why. This does not prove that our decisions were always wise. But it may help the reader to see how the interaction of circumstances and statesmen’s convictions shapes events.


In my archival research, I have relied on my copies of official records deposited since 1977 in the Library of Congress. The originals of these official records are in the files of either the State Department, the National Archives (for the Nixon period), or the Gerald R. Ford Library. I want to thank Samuel R. Berger, President Clinton’s Assistant for National Security Affairs, and Deputy Assistant Major General Donald L. Kerrick for reviewing and clearing all excerpts from classified material. The deletions they requested have been made.


This book could not have been written without the invaluable assistance of dedicated associates. Foremost among them are Peter W. Rodman and Rosemary Neaher Niehuss. Associate, confidant, and friend of many decades, Peter did indispensable research, particularly with respect to Indochina, Europe, China, and Southern Africa. In addition, he reviewed the entire manuscript for content, accuracy, and style.


Rosemary Niehuss, trusted associate since my government service, did key substantive research on the Middle East and Lebanon. In addition, she supervised the entire research effort, served as the liaison to the Library of Congress, and coordinated the production process with the publisher.


Gina Goldhammer went over the entire manuscript indefatigably several times with a fine editorial eye and is responsible for many invaluable improvements.


Fredrica Friedman reviewed the early chapters and offered useful comments.


I cannot say enough for the dedication of Jody Iobst Williams and Theresa Cimino Amantea. Jody typed the entire manuscript more times than I can count from my nearly indecipherable handwriting and made extremely helpful editorial suggestions. Theresa organized the interaction of research, fact-checking, publisher’s and author’s schedules with extraordinary efficiency and unflagging good cheer. Gratitude is also due to Suzanne McFarlane, who had to shoulder additional tasks to ensure the smooth operation of my office while her colleagues were working on this book.


I have imposed on other associates who had served with me in government and on friends familiar with particular subject matter to check my account against their recollections and to assist with research.


William Hyland helped organize the mass of material on East-West relations and arms control and made valuable comments on the chapters dealing with these subjects. Mary E. Brownell did much of the research on Cyprus and Latin America and reviewed the Latin American chapters for accuracy. Samuel Halpern assisted on research for the intelligence chapter. Politimi Kelekis, Mollie Megan Smith, and Cathy Snider Buchanan helped with research from unclassified sources.


The following friends and colleagues read parts of the manuscript: Brent Scowcroft, Lawrence Eagleburger, and L. Paul Bremer III (especially on the Nixon legacy and the Mayaguez chapter); William D. Rogers (on Latin America); Harold Saunders, Hermann Eilts, and Alfred Atherton, Jr. (on the Middle East); Richard Helms and Samuel Halpern (on intelligence); Stephen Bosworth and Robert Hormats (on energy); Frank Wisner, Walter Cutler, Peggy Dulany, and Faye Wattleton (on Africa); Peter Flanigan, William F. Buckley, Norman Podhoretz, and the late Eric Breindel (on the analysis of Nixon and the debate with the neoconservatives). The comments of all these individuals were extremely constructive, helpful, and much appreciated.


Richard Valeriani, who was a member of the traveling press party, refreshed my memory with anecdotes dealing with my Southern Africa diplomacy.


My wife, Nancy, ever supportive, read most of the manuscript and made many incisive comments.


I want to thank Dr. James H. Billington, the Librarian of Congress, and James H. Hutson, Chief, David Wigdor, Assistant Chief, of the Library’s Manuscript Division—home of my official papers—and its staff for efficient and friendly cooperation.


Kenneth G. Hafeli of the Gerald R. Ford Library was extremely helpful with locating official White House photographs. Many of these were taken by David Hume Kennerly, a Pulitzer Prize-winning photo journalist who served President Ford as chief official White House photographer. Others came from a collection of official State Department photographs.


No author could wish for a more supportive and patient publisher than Simon & Schuster. As editor, friend, and adviser, Michael Korda made innumerable wise and subtle suggestions in his inimitable tactful and thoughtful manner. Gypsy da Silva supervised the copyediting, indexing, photographs, and maps with enormous patience and matching efficiency. John Cox as line editor and Fred Chase as copy editor were impeccable. Jim Stoller and Andrew Jakabovics were vigilant proofreaders.


Needless to say, any shortcomings of this volume are my own.


I have dedicated this book to the memory of my mother, Paula Stern Kissinger. She had shared the period of writing with me as she had all other important events of my life and had looked forward to publication with characteristic buoyancy. She passed away, aged ninety-seven, just as the book was going into galleys.
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A FORD, NOT A LINCOLN



The Changing of the Guard



Gerald Rudolph Ford was an uncomplicated man tapped by destiny for some of the most complicated tasks in the nation’s history. The first nonelected President, he was called to heal the nation’s wounds after a decade in which the Vietnam War and Watergate had produced the most severe divisions since the Civil War. As different as possible from the driven personalities who typically propel themselves into the highest office, Gerald Ford restored calm and confidence to a nation surfeited with upheavals, overcame a series of international crises, and ushered in a period of renewal for American society.


A year before his inauguration, it would not have occurred to Ford that he was about to be thrust into the presidency. The highest office to which he had ever aspired was that of Speaker of the House of Representatives, and that had appeared out of reach because of the Democratic Party’s apparently invulnerable majority in Congress. Ford had, in fact, decided to retire after the next election in November 1974. Suddenly, in October 1973, Richard Nixon appointed him Vice President in the wake of Spiro Agnew’s resignation. “I’m a Ford, not a Lincoln,” Ford said modestly when he assumed that responsibility on December 6, 1973.


Having never felt obliged to participate in the obsessive calculations of normal presidential candidates, Ford was at peace with himself. To a world concerned lest America’s domestic torment impair its indispensable leadership during what was still the height of the Cold War, he provided a sense of restored purpose. On his own people, Ford’s matter-of-fact serenity bestowed the precious gift of enabling the generations that followed to remain blissfully unaware of how close to disaster their country had come in a decade of tearing itself apart.


The ever-accelerating pace of history threatens to consume memory. Even those of us who experienced firsthand the disintegration of the Nixon Administration find ourselves struggling to reconstruct the sense of despair that suffused the collapsing presidency and the sinking feeling evoked by seemingly endless revelations of misconduct, by the passionate hostility of the media, and by the open warfare between the executive and legislative branches of our government.


In my dual role of National Security Adviser and Secretary of State, my constant nightmare as Watergate accelerated was that, sooner or later, some foreign adversary might be tempted to test what remained of Nixon’s authority and discover that the emperor had no clothes. Probably the greatest service rendered by the Nixon Administration in those strange and turbulent final months was to have prevented any such overt challenge. For even as it approached dissolution, the Nixon Administration managed to navigate the Arab-Israeli War of 1973, diminish the Soviet position in the Middle East by sponsoring two disengagement agreements, and conduct successfully a complicated triangular diplomacy with Moscow and Beijing.


The disintegration of executive authority in the democratic super-power did not lead to a collapse of our international position as any standard textbook on world politics would have predicted, partly because the sheer magnitude of the disintegration of presidential authority was unimaginable to friend and adversary alike. Together with the prestige Nixon had accumulated over five years of foreign policy successes, we were able to sustain what came close to a policy of bluff. In October 1973 at the end of the Middle East War, it even saw us through an alert of our military forces, including of the nuclear arsenal. But with every passing month, the sleight of hand grew more difficult. We were living on borrowed time.


As the impeachment proceedings gathered momentum, Nixon’s personal conduct began to mirror his political decline. He kept fully abreast of the various foreign policy issues and at no point failed to make the key decisions. But, as time went on, Watergate absorbed more and more of Nixon’s intellectual and emotional capital. As day-to-day business became trivialized by the increasingly apparent inevitability of his downfall, I felt enormous sympathy for this tormented man whose suffering was compounded by his knowledge that his tragedy was largely self-inflicted. Yet by early July 1974, I, like the other few survivors of Nixon’s entourage, was so drained by the emotional roller coaster that I was half hoping for some merciful end to it all.


The brutal process of attrition seemed both endless and incapable of being ended. Even when, on July 24, the Supreme Court ordered the White House tapes to be turned over to the special prosecutor, I was so inured to daily crises that I doubted anything conclusive would emerge. On July 25, I escorted the new German Foreign Minister Hans-Dietrich Genscher to the summer White House at San Clemente for a meeting with the President. After an hour with a ravaged-looking Richard Nixon the next day, Genscher asked the question tormenting me as well: “How long can this go on?”


On July 31, Al Haig, then Nixon’s chief of staff, requested an urgent meeting during which he informed me that one of the tapes the Supreme Court had ordered to be turned over to the special prosecutor was indeed the long-sought “smoking gun”—the conclusive proof of Nixon’s participation in the cover-up. Haig would not divulge the contents.


Even at the edge of the precipice, the surreal aspect of Watergate continued. The White House decided to release the tape on August 5 in order to be able to put its own “spin” on it. The day before, my friend Diane Sawyer—at the time, assistant to Nixon’s press secretary, Ron Ziegler, and now a national television personality—came to my office to check some public relations detail on an unrelated foreign policy matter. She had not heard the tape, she said, but she was beginning to believe that a climax would never come and that we were doomed to bleed to death slowly. “As likely as not,” she said, “the tape will be drowned out by the background noise.”


Clever, beautiful Diane turned out to be wrong. On the tape, Nixon was clearly heard instructing his chief of staff, H. R. “Bob” Haldeman, to use the CIA to thwart an FBI investigation into the Watergate burglary. This proof of an attempted obstruction of justice provided the catharsis for the Watergate affair. I have elsewhere described in detail the outburst that followed its release—the Cabinet revolt, the decision of senior Republicans to abandon the President, and my meetings with Nixon, including the melancholy encounter in the Lincoln Sitting Room on his next-to-last night in the White House—all of it culminating in Nixon’s decision forty-eight hours later to resign, effective at noon on August 9.1 In these pages, I will confine myself to my interaction with the President-to-Be, Gerald R. Ford.


On the morning of the tape’s release, Nixon telephoned with a bizarre request: would I call the Vice President and ask him to invite key southern members of Congress to a briefing by me on foreign policy? Nixon did not explain his purpose, but obviously he thought it might persuade these representatives to vote against impeachment.


I had first met Gerald Ford some ten years before when, as a Harvard professor, I invited him to address a seminar on defense policy I was conducting under the joint auspices of the Harvard Law School and the Graduate School of Public Administration (now the John F. Kennedy School of Government). Ford discussed congressional control of the defense budget, a subject he knew well from his service as the ranking Republican on the Defense Subcommittee of the House Committee on Appropriations. Although (and perhaps because) his presentation was delivered in the unassuming style of Grand Rapids rather than the convoluted jargon of the academic world, he left an extremely favorable impression on students who, in the prevailing atmosphere of the incipient anti-Vietnam protest, were anything but benevolently disposed toward advocates of a strong defense.


After I became Nixon’s National Security Adviser, Ford, in his capacity as Minority Leader of the House of Representatives, attended occasional White House briefings. His interventions were sensible, supportive, and good-humored. For the eight months of his vice presidency, Ford conducted himself with dignity and loyalty to the President. He remained aloof from Watergate controversies and displayed no designs on the highest office. Roughly once a month, I would brief him about major foreign policy developments. General Brent Scowcroft, then my deputy, saw him more frequently. Ford would limit himself to asking clarifying questions—the appropriate course of conduct for a Vice President, who, since he has no clear-cut area of responsibility, should make any suggestions he may have directly to the President and not to a subordinate.


I have never asked Ford what went through his mind when I called him on that fateful morning of August 5 with Nixon’s request that he invite the southern congressmen to a foreign policy briefing. And he has never volunteered a comment. By then, we now know, a small group to advise him on the inevitable transition had already been formed. Did he think I was trying to bring myself to his attention? Did he believe Nixon was seeking to embarrass him? Whatever he may have thought, Ford played it straight. He would do what the President asked, he said, but—demonstrating that he had seen through Nixon’s stratagem—he added that it would have little influence on the impeachment vote (which I had not mentioned). Matters had gone too far; foreign policy issues would not affect the decision of the House of Representatives.


The tape having been released, Ford took the unprecedented step on August 6 of dissociating from the President at a Cabinet meeting. He would no longer defend the President’s position on Watergate, he said, and indeed he would not have done so in the past had he known what was on the tape. Publicly he would maintain silence on the matter on the ground that he was a “party in interest”—pointedly reminding everyone that he was next in line for Nixon’s office. But Ford stressed that even though he was dissociating from the President, he would continue to support Nixon’s policies:


Everyone here recognizes the difficult position I’m in. No one regrets more than I do this whole tragic episode. I have deep personal sympathy for you, Mr. President, and your fine family. But I wish to emphasize that had I known what has been disclosed in reference to Watergate in the last twenty-four hours, I would not have made a number of the statements I made either as Minority Leader or as Vice President. I came to a decision yesterday and you may be aware that I informed the press that because of commitments to Congress and the public, I’ll have no further comment on the issue because I’m a party in interest. I’m sure there will be impeachment in the House. I can’t predict the Senate outcome. I will make no comment concerning this. You have given us the finest foreign policy this country has ever had. A super job, and the people appreciate it. Let me assure you that I expect to continue to support the Administration’s foreign policy and the fight against inflation.2


I did not speak with Ford at that meeting or, indeed, until Nixon had decided to resign. It was now certain that Ford would become President. In that turbulent week of Nixon’s resignation, I had no time to speculate on how it would affect my own position. Before I could address the subject, Ford took the decision out of my hands by telephoning me on the morning of August 8 after Nixon had informed him of his plans to resign. Ford asked me to come to see him and, in his unassuming way, left the time up to me. In the course of the same conversation, he asked me to stay on and in a way that made it sound as if I would be doing him a favor by agreeing. The conversation went as follows:


FORD: Good morning.


KISSINGER: Mr. Vice President.


FORD: How are you, Henry?


KISSINGER: Fine.


FORD: I just finished talking with the President, and he gave me his decision, and we spent about an hour and twenty minutes over there. During the course of the conversation, he indicated that you were the only one in the Cabinet with whom he had shared his decision.


KISSINGER: That is right.


FORD: I would hope we could get together sometime this afternoon at your convenience. I have no plans other than to start getting ready.


KISSINGER: Would 3:00 suit you, Mr. Vice President?


FORD: That would be fine, Henry. I would appreciate it very much and whatever your schedule is—mine is totally flexible.


KISSINGER: After the President talked to me yesterday, I prepared some tentative suggestions for your consideration. Might I bring those along?


FORD: Absolutely.


KISSINGER: They are things that need to be done in the next two days.


FORD: I will be delighted to see you and bring anything along that you want, Henry.


KISSINGER: Right. One other technical thing. Can we say to the press that I am coming over to see you, or had you rather announce that? It is not particularly necessary. We can just avoid it altogether.


FORD: I see no reason why you can’t say that you are coming over to see me. I see no harm in that.


KISSINGER: We would not say anything else.


FORD: I think it important actually that it be announced—so announce it, Henry.


KISSINGER: I think from the foreign policy point of view it would have a calming effect.


FORD: Why don’t you state it or have it released and in any way that you think would be helpful? Don’t hesitate to embellish it.


KISSINGER: I think the best thing, if you agree, is to say you have called me, and you have asked me to come to see you, and I am coming to see you at 3:00.


FORD: Very good, Henry.


KISSINGER: I pray for you, and you know the whole world depends on you, Mr. Vice President.


FORD: I know that, Henry, and I will talk to you more about it. As I have inferred in our previous conversations, I really want you to stay and stand with me in these difficult times.


KISSINGER: You can count on me, Mr. Vice President. We will have a chance to talk about it.


FORD: I wanted to get that in now so there is no doubt about it.


KISSINGER: I am very, very appreciative of your thoughtfulness in mentioning it.


FORD: We will see you at 3:00 then.


Dramatic events are not always ushered in by dramatic dialogue. As I reread this conversation from the perspective of two decades, I am struck by its matter-of-fact tone and concerns. At the time, I was affected by the understated way in which Ford conveyed Nixon’s decision which would make him President, without rhetorical flourishes and without mentioning the emotional impact on himself. And I was moved by his tact in so swiftly putting an end to any personal uncertainty I might be experiencing.


The atmosphere of the conversation carried over into our meeting that afternoon. It took place in the Vice President’s large office in the Old Executive Office Building, which, before World War II, had been assigned to the Secretary of the Navy. This gingerbread edifice is physically separated from the White House by a narrow passageway incongruously named West Executive Avenue and much more so by the nearly unbridgeable chasm of difference in actual power. As a general rule, the policymakers have offices in the White House; supporting staffs are installed in the Old Executive Office Building. In that respect, the location of the Vice President’s office accurately reflects his real power.I


In less bureaucratic times—until 1947—the Old Executive Office Building used to house the State Department as well as the Army and Navy Departments earlier. Each of these alone would today overflow its patrician corridors. No building in Washington has offices better calculated to stimulate reflection. The ceilings are high, the proportions vast by contemporary standards. The larger offices have exterior balconies, many with views of the White House lawn.


During my meeting with Ford in the afternoon of August 8, I sat on a sofa near the balcony, Ford on an easy chair with his back to the window. He seemed casual and calm, neither grandiloquent nor pretentiously humble. He opened the conversation by saying that he intended to announce even before he had taken the oath of office—in fact, that very evening—that I would be staying. Ford added that he had felt comfortable with me ever since our first meeting at Harvard. Artlessly, he added that he felt confident we would “get along.” I replied that it was my job to get along with him, not the other way around.


With this, we turned to the practical problems of the transition. To avoid confusion abroad, it was important to establish a sense of continuity in our foreign policy, at least for an interim period until the new President could determine what changes, if any, he wished to make. To this end, I had brought along a transition plan, the essential feature of which was to put before every government around the world a personal presidential message. In addition, I recommended that the new President meet with all the ambassadors accredited to Washington so that they could report their personal impressions to their governments. These two steps were designed to prevent the various capitals from basing their initial judgments on rumor and speculation. Since it was physically impossible to see each ambassador individually, I proposed that Ford meet them in regional groups, allotting about an hour to each. The first group would be NATO ambassadors, followed by Latin America, the Middle East, Africa, and Southeast Asia. Since the nations of Northeast Asia did not fit any grouping, and since Japan was an indispensable ally and China a key element in our triangular diplomacy, I recommended that their diplomatic representatives be received individually. (Anatoly Dobrynin, the Soviet ambassador, was on home leave; he would be received as soon as he returned.)3 Finally, there would be separate meetings with the ambassadors of South Korea and South Vietnam—two countries on behalf of which American blood had been shed. Their ultimate safety depended on making sure that their adversaries understood the new President’s commitment to their security.


Ford took some time to look over the various documents. He invited John O. “Jack” Marsh, Jr., a longtime associate whom he was to appoint counselor, to join our meeting. After some desultory discussion, Ford agreed to the draft letters and to the meetings with the ambassadors. He demurred only when I handed him another document listing outstanding commitments, including some sensitive understandings with other governments. One of these had not yet been implemented and was, in fact, somewhat ambiguous. I told Ford that, if he felt uncomfortable with it, I could delay carrying it out: “They will blame me, not you,” I said. But passing the buck was not a trait of this President-to-Be: “No, I will make that decision,” Ford said.


Perhaps the most lasting impact of that first conversation was its aftermath. For the first time since I came to the White House, I left the presidential presence without afterthoughts, confident that there was no more to the conversation than what I had heard. Nixon was one of the most gifted of American Presidents, prepared to make tough decisions and courageous in doing so. But he needed solitude for such an act. Face-to-face, Nixon was obsessively incapable of overruling an interlocutor or even disagreeing with him, as I shall elaborate in a subsequent chapter. Since one could never be certain that Nixon might not undo what he appeared to have just decided, wariness occasionally verging on paranoia prevailed among his entourage.


With Ford, what one saw was what one got. Starting with that first meeting, I never encountered a hidden agenda. He was sufficiently self-assured to disagree openly, and he did not engage in elaborate maneuvers about who should receive credit. Having been propelled so unexpectedly into an office he revered but never thought he would hold, he felt no need to manipulate his environment. Ford’s inner peace was precisely what the nation needed for healing its divisions.



The New President



The morning of August 9, 1974, witnessed one of the most dramatic moments in American history. At 9:30 in the East Room of the White House, President Nixon bade farewell to his staff, culminating the greatest rupture of the American domestic consensus since the Civil War.4 At 12:03 that same day, in the same room, Gerald R. Ford was sworn in as the thirty-eighth President of the United States. The seats had been rearranged so that when Ford spoke, he was facing in a different direction than Nixon had, symbolizing a new beginning.


Nixon’s parting speech was an elegy of anguish. Usually so disciplined, he talked in a rambling, occasionally disjointed manner about the dreams of his youth, about his mother and family, and about the importance of putting into practice Theodore Roosevelt’s injunction never to shirk the political arena. Having devoted so much of his effort to self-control all his life, Nixon seemed impelled to put on display the passions and dreams he had publicly suppressed for so long; he even wore glasses for the first time in public. For a staff drained by the unraveling of the presidency, it was almost too much to have to witness—in this, Nixon’s last act as President—such a baring of the inner self of this anguished figure refusing to admit defeat, even as his life’s work was in shambles.


When, two and a half hours later, Gerald Ford took the oath of office, he declared calmly and confidently that “our long national nightmare” was over.5 And his audience, exhausted by struggling for nearly a year and a half against a premonition of catastrophe and by the emotional wringer of Nixon’s parting speech, placed its hopes on this unpretentious man from Grand Rapids into whose hands an extraordinary twist of fate had placed America’s destiny.


As it happened, I played a conspicuous if technical role in the two resignations that had made Ford’s ascent to the presidency possible. At 11:35 A.M., General Haig handed me Nixon’s formal resignation addressed to me in my role as Secretary of State in the National Security Adviser’s office at the White House. All presidential appointments are countersigned by the Secretary of State and, by the same token, resignations of the President and Vice President are made to the Secretary of State as well. This is a vestige of the days when the Founding Fathers had designed that position to include major domestic functions—somewhat similar to the prime minister in the French Fifth Republic. When the letters of resignation of Spiro Agnew as Vice President on October 10, 1973, and of Richard Nixon as President on August 9, 1974, were formally addressed to me, I achieved what one must hope will remain the permanent record for receiving high-level resignations.


By the time of Agnew’s forced resignation, Nixon’s original entourage had been decimated, and the remnants were like shipwrecked sailors thrown together on some inaccessible island. In these circumstances, I became privy to the President’s ruminations regarding the political choices before him—a subject matter from which I had previously been excluded. He enunciated three criteria affecting his decision on the new Vice President: who would make the best President, who would be easiest to confirm without provoking further Watergate problems, and who would provide the least incentive for the advocates of impeachment to do away with Nixon.


Of the potential candidates, Nixon considered former Texas Governor and Secretary of the Treasury John B. Connally by far the best qualified for the presidency, with New York Governor Nelson A. Rockefeller a close second in ability though not in terms of his attractiveness to Nixon. Connally, of whose brash self-confidence Nixon stood in awe and the only person about whom I never heard Nixon make a denigrating comment, would surely have been his first choice had he not been the subject of an investigation (which ultimately led to his indictment). Still confident of surviving Watergate, Nixon wanted to make sure that, despite Connally’s obvious handicap, the ultimate vice presidential choice would not blight Connally’s prospects for the 1976 Republican presidential nomination—by which time the latter’s legal troubles would presumably be behind him.


Nixon’s strong feelings about Connally would have been sufficient to eliminate Rockefeller’s prospects even if Nixon could have brought himself to appoint the political adversary of a lifetime. Rockefeller’s fatal handicap in Nixon’s eyes—at least the one Nixon stressed to me as Nelson’s lifelong friend—was that Rockefeller’s nomination would utterly divide the Republican Party. (Nixon was to say later that he had also considered Ronald Reagan but had rejected him because he could not be confirmed. If so, he never mentioned it to me.)


Through this process of elimination, Gerald Ford emerged as Nixon’s choice. He would prove easy to confirm and be, in Nixon’s words, an “adequate” Vice President. In addition to being acceptable to Congress, Ford carried another benefit in Nixon’s eyes: his lack of experience on the executive level would give Congress pause in any plan to impeach Nixon. On several occasions, the President mused that Congress would not dare to assume responsibility for replacing him with a man who had so little background in international affairs.


As it turned out, the choice of Vice President had no impact on Nixon’s impeachment for, by then, Watergate had gathered its own momentum. Ford was nominated on October 13, 1973, and easily confirmed. And his elevation to President ten months later was welcomed with universal relief.


When Ford took the oath of office, no one—not even the new President—could know whether he would be equal to the monumental task bequeathed to him. Without any executive experience, he assumed the presidency at a moment as desperate as our nation has known outside of wartime. Lacking a popular mandate and in the wake of the traumas of Vietnam and Watergate, Ford was handed the responsibility for his country’s renewal. And Providence smiled on Americans when—seemingly by happenstance—it brought forward a President who embodied our nation’s deepest and simplest values.


In no other country are personal relations so effortless as in small-town America; nowhere else is there to be found the same generosity of spirit and absence of malice. The quintessential product of this environment, Gerald Ford performed his task of overcoming America’s divisions and redeeming its faith so undramatically and with such absence of histrionics that his achievements have so far been taken far too much for granted. Only very recently have some journalists who used to mock him begun to reevaluate his period in office.6


To a great extent, this neglect was because Ford bore so little resemblance to the prototype of the political leader of the Television Age. The media and many of his colleagues were at a loss when it came to fitting him into the familiar stereotypes. The modern presidential candidate ends up making a kind of Faustian bargain: a full-scale national primary campaign costs a minimum of $15 million for television and print media advertising. But the money must be raised within strict limits defined by law. To remain credible, a candidate feels obliged to devote most of his energies for the better part of three years to accumulating a war chest from fragmented and disparate constituencies. In that process, his principal incentive—approaching an imperative—is to try to be all things to all people. What starts as a tactic, over the course of the grueling campaign easily and imperceptibly turns into a defining characteristic. National recognition is achieved at the price of nearly compulsive personal insecurity.


The age of the computer and of television has compounded this insecurity. When the visual image replaced the written word as the principal means of understanding the world, the process of learning was transformed from an active to a passive mode, from a participatory act to assimilating predigested data. One learns from books via concepts that relate apparently disparate events to each other and require analytical effort and training. By contrast, pictures teach passively; they evoke impressions which require no act by the viewer, emphasize the mood of the moment, and leave little room for either deductive reasoning or the imagination. Concepts are permanent; impressions are fleeting and in part accidental.


The new technology has fundamentally altered the way in which the modern political candidate perceives his role. The great statesmen of the past saw themselves as heroes who took on the burden of their societies’ painful journey from the familiar to the as yet unknown. The modern politician is less interested in being a hero than a superstar. Heroes walk alone; stars derive their status from approbation. Heroes are defined by inner values, stars by consensus. When a candidate’s views are forged in focus groups and ratified by television anchor-persons, insecurity and superficiality become congenital. Radicalism replaces liberalism, and populism masquerades as conservatism.


A curious blend of brittleness and flamboyance thus defines the modern political persona: brittleness verging on obsequiousness in the quest for mass approval, flamboyance turning into panic when the public’s mood shifts. Far more concerned with what to say than with what to think, the modern political leader too frequently fails to fulfill the role for which he is needed most: to provide the emotional ballast when experience is being challenged by ever-accelerating change. The inability to fulfill these emotional needs lies behind the curious paradox of contemporary democracy: never have political leaders been more abject in trying to determine the public’s preferences, yet, in most democracies, respect for the political class has never been lower.


In the United States, the dividing line between the new and old style of politics coincides roughly with the advent of the Kennedy Administration. A young and untested Senator achieved the presidency by eloquence and by his capacity to exploit the still novel medium of television. John F. Kennedy’s presidency was too brief to require him to choose between heroism and stardom, or even to be conscious of the choice. Kennedy was able to practice both modes, unintentionally mortgaging the tenure of his immediate successors who fell prey to the illusion that no choice needed to be made.


Lyndon Johnson, well grounded in traditional politics, tore himself apart in his quest for the kind of adulation Kennedy had evoked but which was destined to be beyond reach for a President of Johnson’s generation. Immortalized by his untimely death, Kennedy, for his admirers, served as the embodiment of dreams turned legacy. Johnson’s vain attempt to play the same role lured him into craving approbation from those who would never accept him.


The case of Nixon proved even more stark. No modern president was more solitary, more studious, or spent so much of his time alone, reading or outlining options on his ubiquitous yellow legal pads. If ever there was a man from out of the age of books, it was Richard M. Nixon. He understood foreign policy better than almost any other practicing political figure of his era. And yet, as the tapes of his conversations and the blizzard of notes emanating from his office are made public, it will become apparent that he spent an exorbitant amount of his time in the hopeless quest to elicit the adulation of those he identified as the Eastern Establishment, of which—in his mind—Kennedy had been the superstar.


Nixon’s convictions, while firm and—in foreign policy—carefully thought out, did not seem able to sustain him unless they resonated not just with public acclaim but with the approval of the classes he admired and despised at the same time. His actions were in the mold of heroes, but Nixon doomed them by a frantic quest for stardom shading into efforts to vindicate his perception of the ruthlessness of his rivals.


Gerald Ford was about as different as possible from what has become the familiar political persona. Having risen through the ranks of his party in the House of Representatives—a career dependent on day-to-day practical relations with his peers—Ford was immune to the modern politician’s chameleon-like search for ever-new identities and to the emotional roller coaster this search exacts. Far too unassuming to think of himself as heroic, Ford would have been embarrassed had anyone suggested that Providence had imposed on him just such a role.


Cartoonists had great fun with Ford’s occasionally fractured syntax. They forgot—if they were ever aware—that being articulate is not the same as having analytical skill, which Ford had in abundance. For a national leader, courage and devotion to principle are, in any case, the more important qualities.


Ford was well aware of his relative lack of suavity and, unlike the modern political leader, was not embarrassed to admit it. “I am not one of those oratorical geniuses,” he said to me on the telephone on January 15, 1975. “There is no point in my trying to be one. I just have to be myself.” A week later, he returned to the subject after a press conference in which he thought he could have done better (a view I did not share). Unlike most political leaders of the Television Age, Ford blamed himself, not the media:


I came away feeling myself it could have been a lot better.… I get mad as hell, but I don’t show it, when I don’t do as well as I think I should.… If you don’t strive for the best, you never make it.


Ford was always himself, and he always did his best; in the process, he saved the cohesion and dignity of his country.



The Domestic Crisis



During the Watergate period, I sometimes indulged in a fantasy about its end, much as a parched voyager crossing a desert imagines the bliss of a beckoning oasis. For me, it was a moment when international crises would end or at least moderate, and domestic controversy would be replaced by a new national consensus. But as happens occasionally to the desert wanderer, these visions turned into a mirage.


The irony of Ford’s presidency was that however much he might dedicate himself to the renewal of his society, the patterns of confrontation that had evolved over a decade could not be eliminated overnight. Indeed, it sometimes seemed as if the United States had become addicted to crises and could not do without the periodic fix of some discovery or investigation. The media had been geared to uncovering large-scale malfeasance; that, at least, is where fame beckoned. And Congress was more concerned with inhibiting executive discretion than with nonpartisan national security policy, or else it identified the two.


In this atmosphere, Ford was never vouchsafed the honeymoon traditionally set aside for new Presidents. From his first day in office, he had to face in several directions at once. International crises have their own momentum, only marginally influenced in the short term by domestic politics. If anything, the attention of the world, momentarily deflected by the drama unfolding in Washington, returned to normalcy and that, in practice, signaled an intensification of foreign challenges.


On Cyprus a precarious cease-fire between Greeks and Turks achieved in the last days of the Nixon administration collapsed on the fourth day of Ford’s presidency and threatened to escalate at any moment into military conflict between two indispensable NATO allies. In the very week of Ford’s inauguration, the foreign ministers of Egypt, Saudi Arabia, and Syria, and Jordan’s King Hussein were preparing to come to Washington to begin exploring the next phase of the Middle East peace process. Their visits could not be delayed because their counterparts from Israel and Jordan had already been received by Nixon in the weeks before the change in the presidency, and postponement would have fueled accusations of deliberate foot-dragging.


On other fronts, the American delegation negotiating strategic arms control with the Soviets required new instructions. Ratification of a trade agreement with the Soviet Union was awaiting the resolution of the conflict between the executive branch and Congress about whether Most Favored Nation status for the Soviet Union should be conditional on the easing of emigration regulations for Soviet Jews.


In addition, other more important—if less urgent—issues were waiting for the new President. Perhaps the most fateful challenge to the industrial democracies was their collective demoralization due to the quadrupling of energy prices. Only concerted action could avoid financial panic and political deterioration in Western Europe, and the time had come to begin the process of taking charge of our common future. Sub-Cabinet officials of the industrial democracies were meeting even then to establish an International Energy Agency to enable the countries they represented to conserve energy, share supplies in an emergency, and create a financial safety net if the oil producers should seek to use their huge petrodollar surpluses to pressure the consumers of oil.


Beyond these tactical issues, the conduct of foreign policy in the Ford presidency became especially complex due to a legacy Nixon was wont to call a “new structure of peace.” The Cold War was, of course, still in full swing, and the Soviet Union continued to loom as a major threat, menacing in its nuclear potential, maintaining its ideological pretensions, and capable of taking advantage of the domestic divisions of its superpower rival.


The Nixon Administration had systematically sought to change the context of the Cold War. This was not because we had become blind to Soviet ideology; rather we had concluded that the Soviets’ ideological reach was collapsing. In two generations of Communist history, no Communist Party had ever won a free election. The only allies of the Soviet Union were in Eastern Europe, and they were being held in line by what amounted to Soviet military occupation. Once our opening to China was completed, the Soviet Union faced a coalition of all the industrial nations in the world in tacit alliance with the most populous nation. Sooner or later this equation would work in favor of the democracies, provided they could contain Soviet adventures by deterrence and give the Soviets a chance to reduce confrontation by opportunities for cooperation.


No new President since Harry S Truman inherited quite the same gamut of foreign policy challenges in his first few weeks in office, and none since Lincoln in so uncongenial a domestic environment. Almost all the contending forces in the United States found it difficult to disenthrall themselves from the internal battles of the past decade. Especially the veterans of the Vietnam protest movement, committed to the proposition that foreign policy was a morality play in which the United States was assigned the role of villain, were nostalgic for the struggles which had been the seminal experience of their lives.


No other society has so conceived itself to be the product of a uniquely moral vision as America’s. Freed by geography from the necessities of geopolitics as well as from its temptations, the United States has been permeated by the conviction that political issues—especially with respect to foreign policy—could be equated with choices between good and evil. Americans have always perceived their society as in pursuit of perfection in world affairs, rewarded when it fulfills this promise, punished when it falls short. Wilsonianism distilled this conviction into the unprecedented theory that wars are caused not so much by struggles for power as that these struggles reflect domestic moral failings, specifically the degree to which a society falls short of the democratic ideal. In a world of democracies, conflicts would be settled by international law. Alliances would be based on the principle of collective security, which bases defense less on the balance of power than on a coalition of the righteous against the lawless. All these assumptions were being ground down in the stark mountains and lush rice paddies of Vietnam.


In terms of its historic traditions and its values, the United States had entered Indochina for highly moral reasons: the conviction that democratic institutions, being universally applicable, could be transplanted successfully to half of a divided country eight thousand miles away in the midst of a murderous civil war and that the principles which had restored Europe would prove equally applicable to the fledgling politics of Southeast Asia.7 As these hopes turned into illusions, the American leading classes tore themselves apart. Critics attacked not so much errors of judgment as the validity of American experience. They blamed the mounting frustrations on the failure of the entire political system and on ethical flaws in need of being expurgated root and branch.


So it happened that a majority of the Old Establishment—the men and women who had set the direction and tone for American foreign policy for a generation—came to insist on the defeat of their own country in order to purify it. In the 1920s, isolationism had turned the United States inward in the widespread belief that the country was too ethical to expose itself to the imperfections of the world at large. In the course and aftermath of the Vietnam War, isolationism took the form of the proposition that we were too depraved to participate in international politics.


As liberals veered into pacifism, radicalism, and protest, conservatives turned into crusaders. They had heretofore supported the containment policy on traditional American grounds: as a means of transforming the Soviet system to democracy. As containment was collapsing in Southeast Asia, some conservatives were spurred by the national humiliation into an attack not on the protest movement but on the administration the protesters were assaulting and paralyzing. Interpreting the looming defeat as a symbol of America’s ideological retreat, they blamed the foreign policy establishment for inadequate moral vigilance and, once the war was safely over, urged a determined assault (at least of the rhetorical kind) on Communism itself and a deliberate policy of confrontation with the Soviet Union.


Traditional conservatives were reinforced by new recruits from the opposite side of the barricades. Rejecting the protest movement’s turn toward radicalism, some eminent liberals joined their erstwhile adversaries in the conservative camp. Self-styled “neoconservatives,” these were primarily intellectuals who injected into the debate an element of ideological passion well exercised from their previous sectarian battles on the left. They had been on the opposite side of the Vietnam debate and hence gave no credit to Nixon for exertions on behalf of an honorable extrication. Nor had they any experience with the fragility of our domestic consensus, which, in fact, they had done so much to weaken. Hence they felt less restrained to urge new crusades than those of us who, battle-scarred by Vietnam and Watergate, sought to stabilize the environment and restore confidence before courting major new confrontations.


Caught in the maelstrom of these conflicting currents, the new Ford Administration found itself a target of criticism from all sides. The reaction to Vietnam and Watergate had polarized the country. Liberals wanted the United States to withdraw from the world and tend to our domestic improvement; conservatives began to clamor for an ideological crusade. In the eyes of the liberals, America’s international involvements went too far; for conservatives, the United States was not assertive enough. That debate continued throughout the Ford Administration and underlay most of the confrontations with Congress. It has, in various incarnations, continued to this day.



Ford and Congress



Normally a Vice President acceding to office can count on the support of his own party. But by the time Ford took the oath of office, the Republican Party had first been divided by Vietnam and then demoralized by Watergate. The same was true to a considerable extent on the Democratic side. That Ford had been appointed rather than elected as Vice President and that he would have to stand for reelection within twenty-seven months of coming to office imposed a straitjacket never before faced by a new President. That many in both parties expected him to be defeated in that election was a further blow to presidential authority.


The pressures were compounded because Ford, though shaped by his experiences in Congress and dedicated to close executive-congressional relations, came into office while these relations were undergoing a revolutionary change. In that sense, it was the Ford Administration which paid the ultimate price for Watergate.


In November 1972, Nixon had prevailed with the second-largest landslide in American history in a national election fought on philosophical issues as clearly drawn as any in this century. Neither George McGovern nor Nixon was a charismatic personality. But their substantive disagreements could not have been more explicit: Nixon’s strong foreign policy protecting the existing dividing lines in the Cold War against McGovern’s neopacifism and distrust of American power; Nixon’s moderate conservatism affirming traditional American values against McGovern’s tacit endorsement of the lifestyles and ethos of the radical protest movement. Nixon won that de facto referendum by 61 percent of the popular vote.


Within less than a year, Watergate had wiped out the results of that election. It amounted to a revolution no less sweeping for having been made possible by presidential misconduct. Three months after Ford’s inauguration, a McGovernite majority representing views overwhelmingly rejected by the American people two years earlier was returned to Congress. This was due far less to a change in the public’s fundamental views than to its outraged reaction to Watergate.


The result was a serious decline in relations between the legislative and executive branches. Heretofore chairmen of the Senate and House committees had been the balance wheel between the branches of the government. But the McGovernite upheaval weakened the seniority system and hence the authority of the committee chairmen. This forced the executive branch into direct negotiations with individual Senators and Congressmen. Legislative staffs grew in both size and influence. As the range and magnitude of congressional intervention in foreign policy increased, the capacity of the individual Senator and, even more, of the individual Congressman to keep himself informed diminished. The role of staff advisers was magnified—a fact which special interest groups quickly recognized and exploited.


A significant proportion of the new staffers had been recruited from the executive branch, where, for one reason or another, they had failed to fulfill their ambitions. From the safe haven of Capitol Hill, they were able to second-guess the administration on an ad hoc basis, free of the constraints of a sense of continuity and of long-term foreign policy perspective that are inseparable from high-level policymaking. The executive branch thus found itself in endless negotiations, both internally and with congressional staffs seeking to influence the most minute tactical detail of policy.


Paradoxically, Congress felt more free to challenge Ford than it had Nixon. For a while, Watergate had constrained congressional challenges to foreign policy because some of Nixon’s critics feared being deflected from their quarry by the charge of weakening national security. More importantly, Congress was restrained during the later part of Watergate by genuine patriotism—a sense of responsibility lest the national tragedy tempt foreign adversaries to foment a major crisis.


Nixon’s resignation seemed to still these concerns. A collective mania for ever more sweeping investigations descended over Congress, of which the intelligence investigations were the most sensational, exposing every covert operation in which the United States had engaged during a period of over twenty years. These consumed an exorbitant amount of time of the top officials of the Ford Administration in servicing the committees and in agreeing on how to deal with classified documents.


In this new atmosphere, Congress felt more free to legislate specific policies than it ever had before. However virulent congressional opposition had been to the Vietnam War, Congress had confined its critique to “sense of the Congress” resolutions, which are not obligatory. But in the twenty-nine months of the Ford Administration, Congress legislated an arms embargo on Turkey, cut off aid to Cambodia and eviscerated it for Vietnam, and legislated a prohibition against any military role in Angola. The micromanagement went so far that, at one point, Congress voted antiaircraft missiles for Jordan only on the condition that they be in fixed positions. (The refusal of wheels was more humiliating than meaningful because, as King Hussein pointed out at the time, it was an easy matter to acquire such wheels in the markets of the Arab world.)



Ford and the National Interest



Ford reacted to the seemingly inexhaustible volume of challenges without either self-pity or doubt about the good faith of his political adversaries. Liberal critics were urging confrontations on human rights, and neoconservatives were celebrating their recent conversion by urging a new, nonelected President to precipitate a series of showdowns with the Soviet Union at a moment when Soviet policy was still relatively restrained and Congress was gutting the defense budget.


Ford viewed his role not unlike that of a doctor ministering to a patient just recovering from a debilitating illness. He therefore resisted demands for exhausting posturing and prescribed a regimen of building and conserving strength. He judged the patient’s challenge to be in the nature of a marathon race, and he would not allow him to dissipate his strength in a series of sprints designed for the gallery. And he was reinforced in this attitude because Congress had just legislated cuts in the 1974 defense budget, necessitating a reduction of ready Air Force wings and causing a deterioration of naval readiness. The Army had been cut by five divisions from its peak in the Vietnam period.


Ford thought it essential to prove to the American people that crisis and confrontation were a last resort, not an everyday means of conducting foreign policy. Both of us were convinced that we stood to win the marathon for which we were girding. With its creaky economy, the Soviet Union would, in the end, not be able to compete with a coalition we were assembling of all the industrial democracies cooperating with China, the world’s most populous country. And that is essentially what happened.


Dedicated to the proposition that his presidency should be a time of healing (as he would entitle his memoirs),8 Ford displayed personal goodwill to friend and foe alike. At times, I thought his apparent equanimity excessive, especially when his reluctance to impose penalties made resistance to presidential authority appear free of risk. In retrospect, I have come to appreciate Ford’s self-restraint, for it gradually drained the American political system of its accumulated poison and created the conditions for the restoration of faith in American institutions. In the end, societies thrive not on the victories of factions but on their reconciliations.


That Ford had courage and leadership ability was demonstrated by a series of actions during the first month of his presidency. On his second day in office, Secretary of Defense James Schlesinger and I called on him for a decision that could not be delayed. In the far reaches of the northern Pacific, a Soviet submarine had sunk at a depth of sixteen thousand feet several years earlier. In pursuit of an intelligence coup, the CIA had commissioned the building of the Glomar Explorer, which presented itself to the world as an oceanic research vessel but was in fact equipped with a device that lowered steel claws to the ocean floor, capable of lifting the submarine into the ship’s body. The Glomar Explorer was in place and all set to lift the submarine on the day Ford took the oath of office. A Soviet trawler was hovering nearby, raising a number of issues: Did the new President want to risk relations with the Soviet Union for the sake of an intelligence coup? Was there a danger that the trawler would interfere with the operation, inviting a clash though the Glomar Explorer was undefended? Ford asked how long the Soviet trawler had been there. When told that it had been on station for weeks, he ordered the salvage to begin because, he argued, conditions would be no more propitious a week later. Unfortunately, on raising the submarine, one claw broke, and part of the submarine was lost.


That Ford would march to his own drummer and not to the advice of his experts became evident five days after his inauguration when the Soviet ambassador, Anatoly Dobrynin—having hurriedly returned from home leave—presented himself at the Oval Office. To the amazement of both State Department experts and the NSC staff, Ford used the occasion to ask for the release of a Soviet seaman (from Lithuania, then a Soviet republic). Four years earlier, the sailor had sought asylum on an American Coast Guard vessel, the commander of which had inexplicably ordered him returned by force to the Soviet ship. The result of this bureaucratic bungle was that the unfortunate refugee was being held in a Soviet jail.


Ford’s request was entirely unscripted. There was not the remotest legal basis for urging the release of a Soviet citizen being held in a Soviet prison. Fortunately for the seaman and the cause of human rights, Ford’s goodwill coincided with the Soviet desire for a favorable start to its relationship with the new President. The request was granted, and the seaman found himself miraculously transported from a Soviet prison to an American haven.


Of greater long-range significance was Ford’s handling of Nixon’s pardon. Nixon seemed nearly certain to be indicted by the special prosecutor—a painful prospect for the United States and for the fallen President. Such a spectacle would have been gravely damaging to America’s standing in the world. And those of us who knew Nixon felt certain that he would never get through a trial or even an indictment without grave physical and psychological repercussions. Yet given the risks a pardon posed for Ford, it was a tricky subject to initiate with the new President, particularly for me as one of Nixon’s close associates. I finally overcame my hesitations when, in the second week of Ford’s presidency, Bryce Harlow called on me to express his own deep concern.


Harlow had been President Eisenhower’s assistant for congressional relations and served briefly in the same capacity in the Nixon White House—until he ran afoul of Bob Haldeman. His wisdom, charm, and intelligence had made Harlow one of the most respected figures in the permanent Washington Establishment. He had often advised me on how to navigate the shoals of high-level politics. Now Harlow argued that putting Nixon on trial would further divide the American people and probably compound the emotional disintegration of a President who, with all his faults, had rendered distinguished service for the country.


The conversation with Harlow gave me the pretext to raise the subject with Ford. I passed on Harlow’s views and endorsed them. In response to Ford’s questions about the psychological impact of a trial on Nixon, I argued that equally important was the impact on the world, where the former President was highly respected. Ford mentioned that some of his advisers thought he should wait until an indictment was actually handed down. I replied that I could not judge the domestic situation, but delay would surely complicate both the international impact and Nixon’s personal despair.


Ford made no further comment, and I did not hear from him again on the subject until the afternoon of Saturday, September 7, 1974, when he telephoned to inform me of his decision to pardon Nixon the following morning. The time had come, Ford said, to lay the past to rest and, in a spirit of Christian forgiveness, to permit Nixon to live out the remainder of his days in dignity. Ford did not invite my comments. Though the decision probably cost him his own election to the presidency, I am convinced that it was a courageous and humane act which was necessary if the nation was ever to be liberated from the traumas of the previous decade.


This unflinching sense of the national interest enabled Ford in his twenty-nine months in office to navigate his country through a series of crises which could have filled a two-term presidency. He kept the ethnic conflict in Cyprus and a similar one in Lebanon from escalating into international war. He managed the collapse of Indochina with dignity and restraint and successfully used military power to free an American ship, the Mayaguez, captured by the murderous Cambodian Khmer Rouge. Ford achieved major progress on strategic arms control with the Soviet leaders in Vladivostok in 1974 and a breakthrough in the Middle East peace process when Israel and Egypt signed the Sinai interim agreement of 1975. Over passionate opposition, he concluded the Final Act of the European Security Conference, widely credited today with contributing to the collapse of the Soviet empire. Ford urged the American initiative to bring majority rule to southern Africa and supported a diplomacy which led to its ultimate success. And he originated a program of cooperation on energy among the industrial democracies which has lasted to this writing and has become institutionalized in the economic summits which have become key components of the contemporary international order.


Other Presidents were to receive the credit for winning the Cold War. But I am certain the time will come when it is recognized that the Cold War could not have been won had not Gerald Ford, at a tragic period of America’s history, been there to keep us from losing it.





I. Beginning with Walter Mondale under President Carter, Vice Presidents have received an additional office in the West Wing of the White House near the President’s office.
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THE MAN AND THE ORGANIZATION



At the Edge of Greatness



On Nixon’s forlorn next-to-last evening in the White House, he and I were together in the Lincoln Sitting Room, reflecting on his place in history. “History,” I said, “will treat you more kindly than your contemporaries.” Nixon was characteristically skeptical: “It depends who writes the history.”


It is difficult to write about Richard Nixon, who combined intelligence, patriotism, and courage with self-destructive flaws as in a Greek tragedy. The hatred he evoked in his political opponents was extraordinary even by the turbulent standards of American democracy. I served as his principal adviser on foreign policy for five and a half years and, when we were both in town, often saw him several times a day. Yet, to some extent, I still remain mystified by the personality of the perhaps most complex President of the twentieth century.


One of the questions posterity will surely ask is what it was about Nixon that caused passions to run quite so deep. Was it because almost everything one could say about Richard Nixon was both true and yet somehow wrong? He was politically astute and highly intelligent yet prone to self-destructive acts; exceptionally analytical yet done in by yielding to ill-considered impulse; deeply patriotic yet wont to hazard his achievements on tawdry practices; possessed of a considerable capacity to feel guilt coupled with an instinct to gravitate toward actions guaranteed to evoke these very feelings; an outstanding judge of people except of those whose actions could affect his own interests; successful in the gregarious profession of politics although introverted, almost reclusive.


Nobody who dealt with Nixon regularly has ever doubted that here was a man capable of imposing his will on circumstances. But he could not handle face-to-face disagreements and would go to extraordinary lengths to achieve his aims by indirection. Nixon aspired to greatness and came close to it, at least in the conduct of foreign policy. Yet he ruined his presidency by acts as unnecessary as they were unworthy.


It would take a poet of Shakespearean dimension to do justice to the extraordinary, maddening, visionary, and debilitating personality of Richard Nixon—at once thoughtful and quirky, compassionate and insensitive; sometimes fiercely loyal, at other times leaving in his wake the casualties of abandoned old associates. Yet ultimately Nixon’s obvious and unending struggle with himself proved so unsettling, even threatening, because deep down one could never be certain that what one found so disturbing in Nixon might not also be a reflection of some suppressed flaw within oneself.


I will always be deeply grateful to Richard Nixon for giving me the opportunity to serve the country which rescued my family from Nazi tyranny. He appointed me as his assistant for national security affairs even though all my previous political activities had been on behalf of Nelson A. Rockefeller, his principal rival for over a decade. Rare is the modern President who entered office under such brutally inauspicious circumstances—asked to end a war in which his predecessors had involved our country without a strategy for either victory or extrication, and which, now out of office, too many of them in apparent quest of expiation seemed determined that the United States should simply abandon without regard for those who had staked their lives on our word.


Inevitably our personal relationship exhibited the ambivalences Nixon inspired in his entourage. Nixon, who treated acquaintances with wary aloofness and even close associates as foils, provided few emotional footholds. His oblique, indirect method of government and his tendency to foment conflicts among his subordinates could be nerve-racking. Occasionally I would relieve the tension with exasperated comments. For his part, Nixon resented the publicity I attracted, starting with the secret trip to China on which he sent me in 1971. Presidents do not take kindly to assistants who compete with them for public attention—especially when some of Nixon’s closest advisers were arguing that I was upstaging him deliberately. While the word “deliberately” was inaccurate, it is certainly true that I did not exactly resist the media’s favors.


Nevertheless, and despite some mutual misgivings, Nixon and I worked extremely well together. Face-to-face, he always treated me with conspicuous courtesy. Though we were not emotionally close, I was touched by his vulnerability and often moved by his inner torments, as in the period just prior to his resignation (when I might well have been as close to Nixon as anyone, except his immediate family, ever got) or on the last evening of his China trip when, on a veranda in Shanghai, Nixon mused about his hopes for a peaceful world.1


I genuinely admired Nixon’s contribution to America’s foreign policy. The endless speculation about which of us contributed to what specific aspect of it misses the point. Whatever my advice, it was Nixon who made the final decisions, Nixon who, in 1971, assumed responsibility for sending me secretly to China and who would have borne the brunt of failure, and again Nixon who, in 1972, assumed the risks of responding to Hanoi’s offensive by blockading North Vietnam, an ally of the Soviet Union, two weeks before a summit scheduled for Moscow and six months before a presidential election.


Nixon could have greatly eased his presidency by simply abandoning our allies in Indochina and placing the onus for the debacle on the Kennedy and Johnson Administrations; he was surely given incentives to do so when the American architects of the war constantly harassed him to travel the road of unilateral and unconditional extrication, unembarrassed by the fact that, under their aegis, our forces and our casualties were increasing until the very day they left office. Believing such a course to be dishonorable and against the national interest, Nixon played the hand he had been dealt and achieved a settlement the critics had declared unattainable—though it ultimately unraveled through a combination of North Vietnamese implacability and a congressional cutoff of aid to Indochina, as I shall describe in a later chapter. Even while extricating our country from Vietnam, Nixon managed to forge new policies toward China, strategic arms limitations, American-European relations, and the Middle East peace process. Often controversial, these policies in their essence nevertheless set the course for the remainder of the Cold War and beyond.


Nixon’s single most important quality was the ability to make bold decisions. That attribute was all the more remarkable because he was not by nature daring and by no means a happy warrior. On the contrary, he made his major decisions with a joylessness verging on despair, as if he was doomed by some malign destiny to have so much anguish brought to naught despite all the meticulous reflection and all the notepads crammed with options.


One of the paradoxes of the Nixon presidency is that the evidence on the tapes pictures him as impulsive, even reckless. But the Nixon with whom I worked on foreign policy reached his major decisions only after almost maddening deliberation. He might act intuitively, but he did not do so impulsively. Every significant foreign policy decision was preceded by weeks of solitary reflection and apparent indecision. Sequestered in his hideaway in the Old Executive Office Building with the curtains drawn, Nixon would work out on a pad of yellow sheets permutations of the options I generally had submitted to him. And since, in any major decision, the pros and cons are closely balanced and unanimity among advisers is rare, he would muse endlessly about how to overrule fractious subordinates. But once he had overcome his premonitions of catastrophe and found someone (usually Bob Haldeman or John Mitchell) to bring the bad news to the overruled associates, Nixon would almost invariably take a big leap.


Afterward Nixon would retire to Camp David for a few days to recover from the ordeal but also to make it that much more difficult for opponents of the decision to reach him. It was hardly the decision-making process recommended in public administration textbooks, and it was emotionally exhausting for all the participants—including, especially, Nixon. But Presidents could do worse than to place on their desks the dictum Nixon would invoke on such occasions: “You pay the same price for doing something halfway as for doing it completely. So you might as well do it completely.”



The President and His Adviser



The French political philosopher Raymond Aron once told me that exaggerating my influence was the American intellectuals’ and media’s alibi for their animosity toward Nixon. During a period of major accomplishment, Nixon’s legion of enemies may well have given me disproportionate credit as a means of depriving the hated President of claims to a lasting legacy. In a strange way, some of Nixon’s traditional supporters on the right strengthened the media’s message by blaming me for what they considered Nixon’s retreat from his original conservative vocation. At the same time, some of Nixon’s entourage, in order to garner more credit for their chief—and occasionally Nixon himself—described me as a mere staff assistant, a kind of puppet pulled by strings in the hands of the master manipulator.


Both versions—that of the dominant adviser and that of the domineering President—misstate reality. The breakthroughs of the Nixon Administration were due to the fact that both Nixon and I subordinated our reservations to close collaboration based on mutual respect. The Quaker’s son from Yorba Linda and the son of a secondary school teacher in Bavaria complemented each other’s qualities in a special way. Nixon had the best personal acquaintance with contemporary leaders around the world of any American political figure I have met. Foreign policy was his hobby, and he deepened his understanding of it by frequent travel. I had a better knowledge of history and of the conceptual side of geopolitics. Nixon operated by flashes of insight to which he clung with remarkable persistence. My forte was to translate general goals into long-range strategies—a task for which Nixon lacked the requisite patience.


Nixon had an instinct for the jugular. With respect to several key decisions, though I came to view their necessity somewhat before he did, once Nixon decided to act, he went frequently beyond my recommendations. In 1970, after the North Vietnamese forces stationed in Cambodia broke out of their base areas and threatened to take over the entire country, Nixon and I were studying ways to neutralize the North Vietnamese offensive in Cambodia and prevent the whole country from being turned into a vast base area aimed at South Vietnam. I recommended an assault on Parrot’s Beak, the Communist base area closest to Saigon; after hesitating for nearly a month, Nixon opted for attacking every base area along the Vietnamese-Cambodian border. In 1972, when we were discussing resuming the bombing of the Hanoi-Haiphong area to break the deadlock in the Vietnam peace talks, I recommended the established method by fighter planes; Nixon ordered the use of B-52s (I was not opposed to B-52s in principle; their use simply had not occurred to me). In 1973, when I tried to organize the Pentagon’s civilian reserve air fleet for an airlift to Israel, Nixon overcame Pentagon foot-dragging by ordering a military airlift and using the giant C-5 planes. In each case, Nixon’s decision was vindicated by events.


Nixon was less hands-on with respect to diplomacy. He took an intense interest in strategy, but the give-and-take of diplomacy, the slow advance by accumulating nuances, made him restless. Nixon would carefully go over the various negotiating options, and he would skim the detailed reports of the actual negotiations. He would make insightful comments, especially on the memoranda outlining strategy. But the version of some spinmeisters of an eagle-eyed President spotting drafting flaws in evolving negotiations is nonsense.


In the end, the cooperation between the President and the National Security Adviser worked not just because we complemented each other’s strengths (and perhaps reinforced each other’s weaknesses with respect to our sensitivity to criticism and proclivity for sudden diplomatic coups) but above all because Nixon and I viewed international relations from a nearly identical perspective. Both of us believed that we were in trouble in Vietnam because our predecessors had launched the United States into an enterprise in a distant region for worthy causes but without adequately assessing the national interest and the likely cost. In a more complex world—of a China returned to international affairs, a resurgent Europe, a more flexible Soviet Union—the United States needed a long-term strategy that would avoid the congenital oscillation between overextension and abdication. America’s historic idealism had to be leavened with an assessment of national interest, and our approach to international relations had to move from episodic interventions to a strategic design which took account of the requirement of equilibrium. This was then—and probably still is at this writing—a minority view in a society which, never having experienced national tragedy, identifies the quest for peace with the missionary vocation of the spreading of its own domestic values around the world.



Nixon and the Establishment



In the folklore of his enemies, Nixon was portrayed as an obsessive anti-Communist and as a standard-bearer of right-wing conservatism. This was far from his own perception. Privately Nixon placed himself in a position well within Establishment orthodoxy. Having been closely associated with both Richard Nixon and Nelson Rockefeller, the latter beloved of the Establishment, I found no significant difference in their approach to foreign policy—only in their personalities and in their respective attitudes toward the Establishment. In the course of one of his rambling discourses with me in 1970, Nixon argued that there were only three possible directions for American foreign policy: the conservative, whose dominant personality was Ronald Reagan; the liberal, whose most attractive representative was Hubert Humphrey; and the moderate, which he believed he himself embodied. The conservative policy, Nixon argued, would be belligerent without being effective and, being intellectually too “thin,” would risk the support of American public opinion as well as that of our allies. The liberal position would “sell us out” and run the risk of war imposed by a frustrated right once the American public realized that the United States was losing ground. The American people, Nixon insisted, were not “losers” and would demand a strong, even violent, reaction to military defeats or even diplomatic setbacks. The moderate foreign policy for which he stood, Nixon averred, was “the only bulwark for international stability.” Rockefeller would have endorsed nearly every word of that statement. (Nixon turned out to be wrong in his assessment of Reagan, though perhaps not of the dominant conservative trend. At the time he made that statement, the neoconservative intellectual wing did not yet exist.)


Unlike Rockefeller, however, Nixon did not consider himself a member of the Establishment (although, in the case of Rockefeller, these ties were more a matter of entitlement than of any emotional linkage). As for Nixon, he felt ignored, even ostracized, by the elite before and throughout his period in office. He ascribed this rejection to his vocal anti-Communism of the 1950s and to his having brought down that epitome of the Eastern aristocracy, Alger Hiss. Reacting with bitter resentment, Nixon’s conversation was suffused with outrage at the hypocrisy and implacable hostility of what he summed up with the epithet “Georgetown cocktail set” and the Council on Foreign Relations. The Establishment was the “enemy,” and enemies should be “kicked in the groin.”


If one deduced from Nixon’s disdainful, belligerent, and occasionally spiteful comments about the Establishment that here was a President on a crusade to destroy it, one would have been far off the mark. Behaving more like the rejected lover than a sworn enemy, Nixon was eager to be admitted into the club, not to destroy it. His ambivalent reverence for the Establishment came to expression when Harvard students occupied the university’s administrative center, University Hall. Nixon told me that he was happy it had happened at Harvard. At first I thought he was gloating at the discomfiture of his enemies. In fact, he had something else in mind: “Harvard is the leading university in the country. It will set an example for how to handle student upheavals.” Nixon was incredulous when I told him that, in my view, no one would know after two days who had done what to whom. At the conclusion of the first volume of my memoirs, I wrote: “What would have happened had the Establishment about which he [Nixon] was so ambivalent shown him some love? Would he have withdrawn deeper into the wilderness of his resentments, or would an act of grace have liberated him?”2


Nixon’s inveterate enemies have much to answer for; from the first, they never gave him the benefit of any doubt. And within less than a year of Nixon’s taking the oath of office, the people he considered the elite of the country were organizing—or acquiescing in—massive demonstrations that paralyzed Washington with nary a word of understanding for the besieged President who was, after all, trying to deal with dilemmas they had left him.


Nevertheless, the President is the symbol of national unity. This imposes an obligation to rise above the level of adversaries pursuing some special interest and to submerge the day-to-day battles in some more embracing national purpose. While in office, Nixon never managed any such act of grace.


As an erstwhile refugee who was for decades self-conscious about my German accent, I had some understanding of Nixon’s fear of rejection. The difference between us was in the way each of us dealt with this concern. Nixon tried to preempt rejection by assuming a posture of hostility. But I did not consider the intellectual Establishment as some strange, unapproachable enemy. It was part of a world I knew well and from which I had emerged into prominence. This was why, throughout my government career, I sought to stay in touch with the academic world. During the various protest marches in Washington, college students and their faculties converged on parks and other public places such as Lafayette Square to the north of the White House or the Ellipse to the south of it. I would send staff members out to invite student and faculty leaders to my office for a dialogue, and rarely did a week pass—especially in my first two years in office—without some visit from one faculty or student group or another.


Ironically, the quest for dialogue achieved, if anything, the opposite of its intended purpose. For it laid the groundwork for a permanent misunderstanding between me and the intellectual community—especially the part of it represented by the Harvard faculty. At first, the academic community interpreted my eagerness to exchange views as a sign of sympathy for its point of view and as proof that I was being overruled by a bellicose, unbalanced President. When it gradually realized that I was basically on Nixon’s side, many liberal intellectuals began to treat me as an opportunistic traitor to their cause.


So it happened that, by the end of the Nixon Administration, the President and I found ourselves being harassed by what had originally been our normal constituencies. Liberals accused me of abandoning them in quest of power; conservatives thought that Nixon had been seduced by visions of Establishment legitimacy.


In this atmosphere, the extrication from Vietnam took on the character of a civil war. Nixon had inherited the war in Southeast Asia. Over 540,000 American troops had been sent to a part of the world as geographically and culturally remote from the United States as it is possible to be on this globe. When Nixon took office, their numbers were still being increased according to a schedule established in the Johnson Administration. We found no plans for withdrawal nor a White House-approved negotiating strategy.


We were nevertheless prepared to assume the responsibility for extricating the United States from this debacle and never blamed our predecessors for the mess. We would not, however, leave the country for which nearly forty thousand Americans had already died by turning over to Communist rule tens of millions who had staked their lives on our word. But that for four years remained the ineradicable North Vietnamese precondition to any cease-fire.


Yet as soon as they left office, the very people who had saddled Nixon with these tragic dilemmas either acted as if they were innocent bystanders or, more frequently, began harassing the Nixon Administration for failing to achieve in four months what they had never endeavored to accomplish in four years. High officials of the Johnson Administration participated in protest demonstrations as if the obstacle to peace was the White House rather than the intransigence of the North Vietnamese—something they, better than anyone, should have known to be the underlying cause of the deadlock. Within a year, they were pressing us for concessions never even hinted at while they were in office. In 1968, the Democratic convention split over the so-called Peace Platform and fought out this division in the streets of Chicago. By the fall of 1969, Nixon had accepted and offered the key elements of this platform. Yet that was the time of the most massive antiwar demonstrations.3


The irony is that the self-righteous demonstrators were, in effect, arguing expediency in the form of peace for us at any price. They demanded an end to their own personal anguish over the war and would brook no policy short of unconditional withdrawal—which we believed was risking the lives of the American troops amidst seven hundred thousand Communist forces and nearly a million armed South Vietnamese unlikely to be tolerant of being abandoned. Nixon simply could not understand how the favored of our society could embrace defeat with such insouciance or urge with so much passion the abandonment of millions to whom we had given our word. He withdrew unilaterally 150,000 troops a year. By the end of his first term, he had withdrawn over 500,000 troops and reduced casualties from 14,600 in 1968 to 300 in 1972 while keeping South Vietnam independent. Yet Nixon was accused of “killing Americans needlessly,” motivated by some inexplicable blood lust.


Nixon interpreted these attacks as the Establishment’s permanent vendetta against him. What he (and I) did not understand was that the radical protest movement was not an arm of the Establishment. Rather, the radicals considered the traditional liberal Establishment as their ultimate enemy, were bent on extirpating it and with their tactics succeeded in intimidating it into acquiescence. Besieged, Nixon reacted with grandiloquently inflammatory statements against what was, in fact, a cowering Establishment.


Strangely enough, while talking blood feud, Nixon held the touching belief that the civil war conditions were the result of some historic misunderstanding which I—a Harvard professor, a member of the Council on Foreign Relations, and a friend of Nelson Rockefeller—might somehow help to overcome. In pursuit of that mirage, a flood of presidential missives descended on my office with instructions to brief the press or Establishment leaders and, at the same time, to punish recalcitrants. Punishment usually consisted of instructions that I refuse to receive specific journalists, even though they were the same ones who, on alternate days, I was being urged to court. These tasks fell to me not because of some special faith in my skill in dealing with the media—I had, in fact, never held a press conference before being appointed National Security Adviser. It was an expression of Nixon’s belief that the elite’s hostility was due, above all, to class prejudice which I, with my assumed Establishment ties, might help ameliorate.


The defining moment for both sides came with the disclosure of the Pentagon Papers in June 1971. The event has achieved a nearly liturgical status and is still invoked at many ceremonial events as a classic demonstration of heroic journalism defying an oppressive government. One hesitates to challenge well-established orthodoxy, but Nixon’s side of the story deserves expression.


When seven thousand pages of highly classified documents appear in the pages of leading newspapers, it is far from axiomatic that the President’s only obligation should be to the First Amendment to the exclusion of other basic American principles—especially in wartime when several hundred thousand Americans were still at risk. Presidential concern became—in Nixon’s eyes (and mine)—a duty because the publication of the Pentagon Papers occurred at a moment when preparations were under way for my secret trip to China, and confidential talks were taking place in Paris to end the war in Vietnam. Both of these extremely delicate enterprises stood to be jeopardized by a demonstration that the American executive authority was declining and that Washington’s ability to maintain confidential discussions was falling into doubt.


That Nixon’s primary concern was to protect the national interest as he saw it is emphasized by an almost never mentioned fact: not one page of the Pentagon Papers was embarrassing to Nixon or to his administration; every last one of them came from the files of Nixon’s predecessors, especially the Kennedy and Johnson Administrations.


I first learned of the disclosures from the Sunday New York Times of June 13, 1971, while I was on the West Coast. Because all the documents were from Defense Department files, I assumed that the leaks had been instigated by someone in the Defense Department to embarrass our predecessors in government. I called Al Haig, then my deputy, and asked him to warn Secretary of Defense Melvin Laird against letting his people use official documents for political ends; continuity would be lost by such tactics. Haig asked me how many documents I thought were involved. When I guessed the number to be around twenty, Haig replied: “How would at least seven thousand grab you?” Soon afterward, the perpetrators of the hemorrhage identified themselves.


A cynical President could have publicly deplored the publication while using it to demonstrate the extent of the mess he had inherited. But when the issue was national security, Nixon was not cynical. The sadness is that, instead of fighting for the principle, he turned a valid case into yet another skirmish in his vendetta with the media. Going into civil court to argue for an injunction against publication was unwise and futile, but it was neither unethical nor dishonorable. There  is no excuse, however, for the extralegal methods employed against Daniel Ellsberg, who had leaked the documents, especially for the break-in into the office of his psychiatrist. Nor were discussions of such acts (as revealed in the tapes) as breaking into the Brookings Institution, where a set of the documents was believed to be kept, compatible with the dignity and moral stature of the presidency—no matter that they were never carried out.


The breach was never healed while Nixon was in the Oval Office. Not until a decade later would a defeated and disgraced Nixon avow his refusal to wither in exile by reemerging from San Clemente and, by the end of his life, reaching a kind of armistice with his erstwhile tormentors. He did so by dint of thoughtful public commentaries and private meetings with the Washington foreign policy community. Did Nixon earn something close to the status of elder statesman because, defeated, he was no longer a threat? Or did Nixon’s overtures—for he clearly took the first step—finally liberate both sides from their obsessions?


Whatever the answers, in death, Nixon contributed to a healing never vouchsafed during his contentious career. Amazingly, in light of the disgrace that had befallen him, Nixon’s funeral in April 1994 turned into a national occasion attended by all the surviving former Presidents, and the incumbent President Bill Clinton, a former Vietnam protester, delivered a moving eulogy.



Nixon the Person



In the mythology of his traducers—and of some film portraits—Richard Nixon was a man given to histrionics, to shouting his prejudices at cowed subordinates, and to dominating his environment by conveying his views with great, even overpowering insistence—frequently under the influence of alcohol. Nothing could be further from the real Richard Nixon—at least the Richard Nixon with whom I dealt.


For example, the portrayals of Nixon drinking himself into incoherence with a bottle ever at his side are simply absurd. In my experience, Nixon never took any liquor during working hours or in the Oval Office. Only his closest associates ever saw him drink in any context. The trouble was that Nixon could not hold even a small quantity of alcohol. Two glasses of wine were quite enough to make him boisterous, just one more to grow bellicose or sentimental with slurred speech. Alcohol had a way of destroying the defenses he had so carefully constructed to enable him to succeed in a profession based on a conviviality unnatural to him. These episodes occurred rarely, always at night and almost never in the context of major decisions. The few of us who actually witnessed such conduct never acted on what he might have said; we felt we owed the President another chance to consider whatever the issue was.


The Richard Nixon with whom I worked on a daily basis for five and a half years was generally soft-spoken, withdrawn, and quite shy. When talking to me or to George Shultz, he rarely, if ever, used the graphic language that proved so startling in the transcripts of his conversations with the political side of the White House. Nixon was capable of dominating a conversation only by conducting a monologue, never in a genuine dialogue. To passive admirers or people who sought his views, Nixon could appear overpowering and confident. But Nixon abhorred face-to-face disagreements of any kind. In his many conversations with me, he would ask many perceptive questions. And he would frequently make very astute observations. He was quite capable of changing his mind upon reflecting on a counterargument. But these were separate events. I cannot remember—nor have I encountered in my records—any real dialogue in which we argued clashing points of view.


The way differences between us were handled was that I would register more or less passively some comment of Nixon’s. Sometime later, I would revert to the same point without ascribing it to him and state my contrary view. After yet another interval, Nixon would either reaffirm his original position or change it without acknowledging the disagreement between us.


Since this was a method involving a considerable risk of misunderstanding, I conducted most of the major policy discussions with Nixon and almost every presentation of options by memorandum. Relieved of the presence of the interlocutor, Nixon felt no inhibitions about reading contrary views. And he felt free to state his response crisply and to issue unambiguous orders. Future historians removed from the passions of the moment will find a study of these voluminous memoranda far more rewarding than the dialogues on the tapes.


The reason for Nixon’s diffidence in face-to-face encounters was the opposite of arrogance: it was a reflection of his abiding fear of being rejected. Others more knowledgeable about Nixon’s early years may be better able to explain this handicap—for such it was—in a man of such intelligence and possessed of extraordinary powers of persuasion. Or the even greater anomaly that Nixon seemed more paralyzed by the prospect of rejection than by its actuality. Once the worst had, in fact, occurred and the dreaded (and half-anticipated) debacle had finally taken place, Nixon displayed extraordinary fortitude, willpower, and resilience. His book, Six Crises, a staple of his private conversation, recounts some of these disasters overcome, though many more lay ahead.4 After losing to John F. Kennedy in 1960 and after the California voters had rebuffed his bid for governor in 1962, Nixon came back to be elected President in 1968. Then, after resigning from the presidency, he returned from exile in San Clemente and reestablished himself as a serious participant in the national dialogue (unlike Spiro Agnew, who, after his resignation, dropped out of sight).


To spare himself face-to-face controversies as much as possible, Nixon avoided office appointments wherever possible unless they were carefully orchestrated set-piece encounters. Those of us in the inner circle faced no more daunting task than to persuade Nixon to meet some individual he did not already know or to see someone who might produce an unpleasant situation—that is, anyone whose opinion Nixon did not know in detail beforehand.


The reverse side of this fear of being rejected—its ballast, so to speak—was Nixon’s romantic image of himself as a fearless manipulator, marching to his own drummer, unaffected either by turmoil around him or contrary advice on the part of his Cabinet and staff. Sometimes this was indeed the case, but more often Nixon would exhaust his entourage with phone calls seeking reassurance. His quest to receive sole credit for every achievement and to have it perceived as an entirely solitary act explains why Nixon rarely, if ever, had an approving word to say about any of his associates—as The Haldeman Diaries demonstrate.5 Subconsciously at least, Nixon sought to enhance his eminence by denigrating his associates, thereby magnifying his own solitude.


Another aspect of this cult of the “tough guy” was that, in conversations with his entourage, Nixon might generate a series of extravagant propositions that, in his heart, he never expected to be implemented. Some of the more bloodcurdling orders on the tapes released thus far have their origin in this proclivity—as I believe to have been the origin of Watergate itself. Nixon was convinced, and repeated on many occasions, that during the 1960 presidential campaign, his office and airplane had been bugged by the Kennedy camp. And I suspect he felt that his near-certain victory in 1972 would not be complete until he had demonstrated his own ability to play by the same rules as he imagined the admired and feared Kennedy clan to have done.6


In foreign policy, these tough-guy orders were much less frequent, though, when they occurred, they could be unsettling (after a few months with Nixon, I was able to distinguish between what he intended to be carried out immediately and what he deserved to be given an opportunity to reconsider). For example, on a Saturday night in August 1969, a TWA plane with Americans aboard was hijacked and flown to Damascus airport. I reported this fact to Nixon, who was in San Clemente with his two friends, Charles “Bebe” Rebozo and Robert Abplanalp. Obviously trying to impress his pals, Nixon issued a curt-sounding order: “Bomb the airport of Damascus.” I was certain the order would never survive the night and called Secretary of Defense Mel Laird to tell him what had happened. The two aircraft carriers in the Mediterranean were out of range, and bombing a country is not a simple matter of giving an order; targets have to be selected, a diplomatic scenario prepared, and press guidance developed. So Laird and I decided to carry out the letter of the order by implementing the first steps and leaving the other measures for the morning. Laird ordered the carriers to be moved to the vicinity of Cyprus without conveying the purpose, enabling us to respond truthfully to the hourly presidential inquiries by stating that the carriers were indeed moving into position. Laird has told me that he backed me up by stating in his conversations with the President that no time was being lost, since weather conditions prevented aerial operations.


The next morning, at my regular briefing, I brought Nixon up to date on the events of the previous twenty-four hours, including the fact that the Sixth Fleet carriers were now near Cyprus. “Did anything else happen?” Nixon innocently asked. When I replied in the negative, the President—without moving a facial muscle—said, “Good.” I never heard another word about bombing Damascus.


It remained only to close the books on the movement of the carriers, which had surely been noted by Soviet intelligence, and without withdrawing the implied threat. That professionals’ professional, Under Secretary of State U. Alexis Johnson, who knew about the movements but not the presidential orders, helped draft guidance for the State and Defense Departments. It read: “Elements of the Sixth Fleet are continuing essentially the movements which had been planned for them. However, they have been made aware of the fact that tensions have been increased as a result of hijacking. This was done to assure readiness.”


The matters that Nixon put forward as orders but in reality made subject to reconsideration did not always reach such a portentous level. For example, in November 1970, Nixon had been the first head of state to announce his attendance at the memorial service for President de Gaulle at Notre Dame cathedral. Because this led to a deluge of other high-level delegations, the French treatment of Nixon in the media and by the government was extraordinarily cordial. Widespread approval is a heady experience for any political leader but was especially so for Nixon. On the flight over, I had convinced the President to overrule Haldeman, who wanted Nixon to return immediately after the memorial service. I had warned that not to attend President Pompidou’s reception for heads of delegations would be taken as an affront. Haldeman, perhaps peeved that I had interfered in his scheduling prerogative, had suggested filling the interim with lunch at Maxim’s. In high spirits the evening of our arrival in Paris, Nixon reverted to Haldeman’s idea. I protested that the French would be outraged if we went from Notre Dame to Maxim’s. Nixon, rarely ready to concede to face-to-face disagreements, turned to Ambassador Arthur Watson, and said: “Reserve a table; tell them we won’t have any wine. No appeal.”


When Nixon said “no appeal,” it meant that he was very unsure of himself. Haldeman and Watson left the room to implement the order, and I followed them out. I stressed that lunch in a fashionable restaurant would undo all the good produced by the President’s early announcement of his attendance, and the order not to serve wine would only call more attention to the incongruity. Haldeman said, with a smile: “It is now a foreign policy problem,” which meant that this fierce enforcer of Nixon’s wishes agreed with me but preferred to let me bear the brunt. I told Watson to wait. If all hell broke loose, he would be the victim; if Nixon persisted, I would take responsibility for the delay, and there would still be plenty of time to make the reservation in the morning.


As I was briefing Nixon on the appointed day, he asked what would happen after the memorial service. I suggested that he might want to review the list of heads of state and government attending President Pompidou’s reception at the Elysée later in the afternoon. There was a trace of a smile as Nixon said: “That’s right.”


The veterans of Nixon’s entourage generally knew how to interpret or, if need be, to calibrate presidential pronouncements. But newcomers found it difficult going. In 1971, John Scali, a former television reporter fresh from having joined the White House staff as a presidential communications adviser, conveyed what he considered to be a presidential request that I should order Secretary of State William Rogers to attack Senator Edward Kennedy in the media. The mere fact that the order came through Scali told me that its intent had been to impress the messenger rather than that it be carried out. Nixon would not confront Rogers on such an issue and, had he really wanted action, he would have addressed either Haldeman, Mitchell, or John Ehrlichman (who handled domestic issues). The result was the following exchange:


SCALI: The President is anxious for Rogers to take on Teddy Kennedy.


KISSINGER: Rogers won’t do it.


SCALI: Just let me tell you. I talked to him twice; he said he is going to talk to you with the President at 11:45. I understand he will also see you.


KISSINGER: I have gone through this with him a thousand times. He will not do it.


SCALI: I am doing this at the instruction of the President.


KISSINGER: That’s a beautiful statement. He will not do it.


SCALI: Well, I hope you will reflect to the Secretary of State the President’s strong feeling that he should do it. I know what the President will say.


KISSINGER: No you don’t. The President will let him slide off. I will not talk against it, but I am not at all sure by the time he gets through he won’t have made it worse.


SCALI: I know how determined the President is that he should do it.… He wants it done.


KISSINGER: If you can get the President to order it, it will be done.


The trouble arose when members of the Nixon entourage with less access and therefore less experience with exuberant presidential statements got into the Oval Office. When the full extent of Watergate became apparent in April 1973, I asked permanent elder statesman Bryce Harlow how it could have happened: “Some damn fool got into the Oval Office and did as he was told,” Harlow remarked.


Most Presidents are preoccupied with how history will treat them. For Nixon, it was an extension of his permanent nightmare that, in the end, all his efforts—the self-discipline, the strong decisions wrung from nagging self-doubt—would vanish into thin air, defeated by the hostility of contemporaries and the indifference of historians. At regular intervals, Nixon would send me lengthy memoranda on how to interpret for posterity the various actions in which he had been involved. The purpose of these memoranda was less to affect immediate publicity—they were too complex for that—than to influence the judgment of history by becoming part of the permanent record.


Two such instances dealt with China policy. The first, dated March 9, 1972, covered the drafting of the Shanghai Communiqué, which was issued at the end of Nixon’s visit to China in February 1972. In this communiqué, for the first time in the modern (or, for all I know, the entire) history of diplomacy, the two sides stated opposing views on many subjects before enunciating a series of agreements. Nixon’s memorandum explained the reasons why he had allegedly chosen this approach. He had been led to the decision to put a moderate American position before the Chinese people, Nixon argued, by his experience when he visited Moscow as Vice President in 1959. Having been given an opportunity to address the Soviet people, Nixon had deliberately chosen a conciliatory tone to create the maximum contrast between the description of the United States by Soviet propagandists and the utterances of the American Vice President. Nixon urged me to read Six Crises as well as the Moscow speech to understand his reasoning in choosing the same approach for the Shanghai Communiqué:


Having gone through that experience I was determined that in this document, which would be the first time Chinese leaders, and cadres, and to a certain extent even Chinese masses, would ever hear the American position expressed, I had to make the strongest possible effort to set it in a tone which would not make it totally incredible when they heard it. It would not have been credible, of couse, had we set forth our position in more aggressive terms because twenty-two years of propaganda at the other extreme would have made it impossible for the reader of the communiqué, or those who heard it read on radio, to believe it at all if the tone was too harsh.


The second memorandum, dated March 14, 1972 is contained in the Notes.7 Signed by Haldeman but, in language and content, clearly dictated by Nixon, it outlined the qualities the President had displayed in Beijing. Presenting his meetings with Chinese leaders as monumental confrontations, I was asked to detail Nixon’s careful preparation, knowledge, humor, debating skill, toughness, abstinence, candor, and stamina.


The fascinating aspect of both memoranda is their recasting of reality into a romantic picture of the President-hero dominating all around him—even though the President had to be aware that I knew better. But I provided only the occasion, not the real target audience, which was posterity. In fact, Nixon had not been involved in the drafting of the Shanghai Communiqué at all. The part to which he referred was drafted in October 1971 during my second visit to China. The chosen format of stating opposing views had not been an American idea but originated with Premier Zhou Enlai as a way to avoid a set of platitudes pretending to nonexistent agreements and in order to highlight whatever genuine agreements were reached. I thought it a brilliant idea and went along with it. My staff and I had drafted the text dealing with the American position; Nixon had approved it upon my return with no significant comment.


As for Nixon’s meetings with Mao and Zhou during the China summit in 1972, these were not at all confrontational, consisting of conceptual explanations of each side’s positions with respect to the geopolitical situation. They were designed to enable the world’s most populous nation and the world’s most advanced industrial society to coordinate their international strategy. Nixon conducted the American side of the dialogue thoughtfully, analytically, and eloquently without any notes.


Nixon’s achievements, in fact, transcended his version of them. Who drafted what parts of the communiqué was far less important than that Nixon had been the President to open the way to China, knew how to cast the resulting dialogue in geopolitical terms, and had presented the American view of world affairs in a masterful way. (Whether he had displayed stamina, abstinence, and humor in the process would surely be lost in the background noise of history.) History has shown that Nixon had no need for these embellishments, for it has already accorded him his due as one of the most creative American Presidents in the field of foreign policy.


From the perspective of Nixon’s place in history, his relationship with me was not without irony. In order to establish White House preeminence and to convey the sense that all decisions were made in the Oval Office rather than in the State Department, Nixon had for years conferred extraordinary authority on me. Confident that he could regulate the public impact of an assistant, he used me frequently as his spokesman on foreign policy strategy on a background basis, which, by the then existent rules, meant that the briefings were ascribed to a White House spokesman. In an extraordinary demonstration of personal confidence, he had asked me to conduct all the major negotiations: with North Vietnam, for the trip to China, for the Moscow summit, and with the various Middle Eastern parties.


Nixon never imagined that his own staff assistant would achieve an independent celebrity, on occasion approaching his own. He did not permit me to be seen on television until my secret trip to China in July 1971 and, up until the end of his first term in October 1972, had insisted that my voice not be heard lest my foreign accent disturb “the good citizens of Peoria” (in his words). On the eve of his reelection, Nixon asked me to respond to Hanoi’s leak of the imminent Vietnam settlement.


Suddenly I emerged as a major public figure in my own right. I surely had not planned this; others will have to judge to what extent I encouraged it. But it had to be painful to Nixon to be obliged to share the cover of Time magazine’s coveted “Man of the Year” issue for 1972 or to see me receive the 1973 Nobel Peace Prize on which he had set his heart. Conscious of this, I appealed repeatedly to Hedley Donovan, then Time’s editor-in-chief, to make Nixon the sole “Man of the Year.” Donovan ended my entreaties by saying that, if I made one more phone call, he would make me sole “Man of the Year.”


Some of Nixon’s associates retaliated by leaking stories of my alleged emotional instability, or of irresolution in crises, or of having uttered the phrase “peace is at hand” without authorization to gain partial credit for Nixon’s electoral victory, and similar derogatory comments suggesting that I was but a tool of the master puppeteer.8


After he left office, Nixon himself occasionally participated in spreading that myth in his characteristically elliptical manner—usually by volunteering in the course of an interview a disavowal of some purported charge made against me (and about which he had not been asked).


In the perspective of time, if not of the moment, it was both exasperating and understandable. And when all was said and done, these were glancing blows that did not affect our close day-to-day cooperation while in office and our mutual regard on substance afterward. Like others close to Nixon, I was sometimes maddened by his endless maneuvering and his opaqueness. But I was also touched by his demonstration of personal confidence where it mattered and in pursuit of what was, when all was said and done, a serious joint attempt to define and to sustain the national interest in a time of crisis and division.



The Taping System



No decision of Nixon’s contributed more to his ultimate downfall than the installation of a taping system which recorded every word uttered in the Oval Office, in Nixon’s hideaway in the Old Executive Office Building, and in the Cabinet Room for almost three years. Unlike a similar system of Lyndon Johnson’s that could only be activated if the President pushed a button on his desk, Nixon’s was self-activating, meaning that he lost control over what was being recorded. This was because Haldeman considered Nixon not mechanically adept enough to be entrusted with pressing a button unobtrusively.


What makes that decision all the more bizarre is that Johnson had shown Nixon his taping system during the presidential transition and that Nixon had ordered it removed as soon as he took over the Oval Office because he considered it an outrageous invasion of privacy. At the beginning of his term, Nixon would occasionally mention Johnson’s taping system as an example of paranoia.


What caused Nixon to change his mind and to install a much more intrusive and less controllable system of his own has never been explained. Since I did not know of its existence until after Haig became chief of staff—that is, some six weeks before the public disclosure—I can only speculate as to Nixon’s and Haldeman’s motives. Part of the reason surely had to do with the siege mentality which enveloped the White House, especially after the Cambodian crisis in the spring of 1970. The taping system had been installed to show Nixon in masterful control, carefully planning his moves and dominating events, rather than as the bellicose hard-liner of the mythology of his critics. A subsidiary motive may have been to help Nixon write his memoirs.


But verbatim office conversations are the worst way to demonstrate coherence. Even with a less complex personality than Richard Nixon, it would be difficult years after the event to disentangle the sarcastic from the genuine, the tentative from the serious, the fleeting thought from the carefully worked out proposition. That was a particular problem with this master of the oblique and the indirect. In order to survive, those of us working daily with Nixon had become experts at observing his convoluted method of making his points by means of carom shots and at learning to distinguish the ostensible direction of his remarks from their ultimate intent. But years after the events, how well would journalists or researchers be able to make such distinctions or even to understand that they needed to be made?


For his entourage, Nixon’s musings or occasional random orders were part of the landscape—background noise, so to speak. They were not treated as guides to action but as expressions of a mood, a way for the President to let off steam. A conversation with Haldeman in the summer of 1972 provides an example of how his closest advisers reacted to presidential instructions. The occasion for it was my request that Haldeman schedule some meeting or other:


HALDEMAN: You’ll have to ask Alex [Butterfield] about that. I’m not allowed to muddy my hands with mundane matters like the schedule.


KISSINGER: Oh, really.


HALDEMAN: I’ve been ordered to stay out of such things.


KISSINGER: What are you doing?


HALDEMAN: I haven’t figured that out yet. I’m trying to understand that part of it. It’s something about there’s nobody to really run things, and so I’ve got to stop running things so that I can run things.


KISSINGER: [laughter]


HALDEMAN: At the moment, it’s a little abstract, and I’m not quite sure exactly how it all sorts out.


KISSINGER: Well, it sorts out with you doing the schedule.


HALDEMAN: Well, I piled all the schedule stuff on Alex today, and he trudged in, went over it all with the President, and got it all worked out.


KISSINGER: That will last for forty-eight hours.


HALDEMAN: That’s what I figured. About that long at best.


KISSINGER: Then he’ll scream at you for having inflicted Alex on him.


HALDEMAN: And then I’ll say, “But Mr. President—”


KISSINGER: He says, “You don’t understand. Now write it down.”


HALDEMAN: He says, “I don’t care what I said, that’s not what I meant.”


To the uninitiated researcher or journalist decades later, the flotsam and jetsam on tape seem set in concrete, portentous presidential pronouncements, a key to the actions of our thirty-seventh President. Some of those released sound like appalling invitations to an abuse of power—even when they were not meant to be carried out. And there is no excuse for some of Nixon’s language or for his various schemes, even when they were not implemented—as I suspect the vast majority were not.


The tapes are therefore difficult to assess on at least three levels: First, the real intent of Nixon is not easy to determine. Is he showing off? Is he manipulating his interlocutor? Does he want action? Is he letting off steam in imaginary retaliation against critics? What else was said on other occasions and by whom? What does the written record show?


Nixon was at his best in written policy memoranda or when making marginal comments on the written submissions of others. But these have been overshadowed by the tapes, which—at least those chosen for publication—show Nixon at his worst: manipulative and grandiloquent all at once.


Second, the tapes bring out the worst in Nixon’s interlocutors as well—as in part they were meant to do. It is easy enough for outsiders to prescribe heroic resignations when one hears a principle being violated verbally. But in any White House, there is a court atmosphere nearly inseparable from the sheer power concentrated in the modern presidency. However draining the assignment, a high-level presidential assistant knows that he could not be doing anything more significant and fulfilling. He will therefore be reluctant to jeopardize this opportunity by debating a point of no practical consequence with the President—and especially not with one like Nixon who had a way of reacting neuralgically to face-to-face disagreements.


The compromise was to evade orders incompatible with one’s principles but not to argue about Nixon’s random monologues outside one’s area of jurisdiction (and even within that area, it was more prudent to resist via a memorandum or a conversation with Haldeman or Mitchell than by direct confrontation). In retrospect, this can be made to appear as obsequiousness, and sometimes it may well have been, but subjectively it more often represented a balancing of how to make the best contribution to national policy.


Third, the tapes fail to provide a context. On seminal issues such as Vietnam and Watergate which evolved gradually, many observations made at an earlier stage (say at the beginning of Watergate when its full extent was not yet clear) would not have been repeated later on. For example, in December 1997, more than twenty years after the fact, several journals had great fun with a comment of mine to Nixon in early 1973 to the effect that his foreign policy achievements would be remembered far longer than Watergate. They neglected to mention that the statement was made before John Dean had gone to the prosecutor, before Haldeman and Ehrlichman were forced to resign, and before the full extent of the transgressions had become public. Even so, I still believe that my judgment will stand the test of time, and I repeated it to Nixon long after he had left office and was in no position to do anything for me.


Despite all these qualifications, the tapes do show one very real and unfortunate aspect of the Nixon presidency: the manipulativeness at the heart of the taping system. Since only Nixon and Haldeman and a few technicians knew of its existence, they believed they could arrange tableaus to enhance Nixon’s historical record or to provide a basis for shifting blame if things went wrong. In retrospect, I can think of several conversations in which I participated that seem to have had this as their principal purpose. For example, on the day the mining of North Vietnam’s harbors was about to take place, Nixon and Haldeman arranged a dialogue in the Executive Office hideaway, the principal objective of which must have been to get me on tape as a strong supporter of what was, in fact, already in train. Since it was too late to affect any decisions, the purpose seems to have been to create a record to counteract any attempt by the media to portray me as the restraining element on a bellicose Nixon or perhaps, in case of failure, to present me as the driving force behind a debacle.9


But in the course of a busy day, successful manipulations must have been rare indeed. After Haig told me about the taping system in May 1973 and warned me to be careful, I had a personal experience with this very difficulty. In the course of the six more weeks that the system remained in operation, I noticed no change in what I was saying in my daily contacts with the President. It was simply too strenuous to censor oneself and to worry about how a conversation might appear in retrospect.


Inevitably the outcome of the taping system was diametrically different from what was intended. The designers may have believed that they would someday edit the tapes or their transcripts, perhaps after Nixon had retired. But they overlooked the crucial reality expressed to me by a psychiatrist who had given up taping his patients because he found that “it takes an hour to listen to an hour.” In Nixon’s case, it would have taken several years to listen to the tapes—a daunting assignment. And even if it were to prove possible, recreating their contexts would have represented a nearly insurmountable hurdle.


One can only guess at the impact of these tapes had they ended up in Nixon’s presidential library as he had intended. There some unwary professor or graduate student would have happened onto this mélange of remarks made by courtiers seeking attention, serious policy proposals, and presidential outbursts ranging from the profound to the outrageous. Nixon would then have succeeded in the improbable feat of committing suicide after his death.


Thus the overall effect of the taping system was not only to damage severely Nixon’s immediate reputation, it complicated any objective analysis of his presidency. Because the tapes possess so much immediate, almost salacious, interest, they detract from serious consideration of what is far more important for the understanding of the period: the vast number of memoranda that were the real basis for decisions, at least in the foreign policy area. The tapes offer tidbits, but they rarely provide any information as to the context or who else said what about the same subject at a different time or place. They are not easily compared even to statements on the same subject by the person speaking. Ironically, Nixon’s obsession with the historical record came close to destroying the ability of historians to render an accurate account of his presidency.



The Operation of the Nixon White House



That a man with such a complex psychological makeup could for three decades have projected himself into a leadership role in politics and reached the very apex represents a tour de force of willpower for which there are few parallels. Nixon was only able to do so by means of procedures permitting him to skirt his inhibitions and brace himself for the act of governing.


Every White House reflects to some extent the personal traits of the President. But Nixon’s were so singular as to require a whole set of unprecedented arrangements that sought to reconcile paradoxically incompatible traits. Nixon was decisive and courageous but nearly obsessively reluctant to settle disagreements face-to-face. Those of us who dealt with him on a daily basis were only too well aware that Nixon was quite capable of undoing some pronouncement he had made to an associate or visitor with another set of comments later to another associate or visitor that augmented his options and prepared a hedge for unexpected setbacks.


Nixon abhorred large meetings, especially those in which he might be asked to arbitrate between conflicting points of view—no matter that this happens to be one of the principal tasks of a President. On the other hand, he wanted to be informed about the nature of the issues before him, and he insisted on having them settled in accordance with his preferences. How to convey orders the President refused to communicate thus turned into an exercise not taught in schools of public administration. It was an assignment that tested the nervous equilibrium of his staff assistants daily.


Nixon solved this conundrum—at least on his end—by installing a system of decision-making that relied heavily on memoranda rather than on face-to-face meetings. And he dealt with personal encounters through three staff assistants: John Ehrlichman, counsel to the President, for domestic policy; me for national security policy; and Bob Haldeman as chief of staff. Wherever possible, Nixon avoided holding meetings with Cabinet members and heads of agencies unless they were primarily informational or one of his assistants—and occasionally Attorney General John Mitchell—had already more or less prenegotiated the outcome. If a Cabinet member refused to play by these rules, he would find access to the President more and more restricted.


This is why one of these assistants (or his representative) was invariably present at presidential meetings, partly as a buffer in case the agreed framework broke down and, even more importantly, to assure that those responsible for the follow-up would know what had actually been said. Nixon’s emotional resistance to having to disappoint a supplicant was so great that there was always the danger of being saddled with some unfulfillable promise. (And if Nixon had been alone, an accurate account was hard to come by.) Acquiescence in an interlocutor’s point of view—in any case, usually phrased so artfully as to mean less than it implied—frequently ended as soon as the door closed behind the visitor.


Nixon set in motion a fierce competition among his advisers while guarding the mystery of his own ultimate destinations. He was determined that foreign policy be conducted from the Oval Office, but he never said as much to his Secretary of State. He would send me off on secret back-channel negotiations without informing Bill Rogers—and while complaining to Haldeman about the Kissinger-Rogers feud which he himself never ceased stoking. The result was that the State Department would often pursue a course of action that was in direct conflict with what I was doing on behalf of the President and of which the department was unaware. The practical consequence was that the party being overruled blamed the outcome on some malign influence—as time went on, most often on me.


There is no doubt that I had a significant role in first shaping the decisions and then explaining them to the media. But, in the end, nobody could move Nixon in directions contrary to his views or toward objectives he had not considered carefully on the yellow pads which served as his surrogates for dialogue. For my part, my work too often left me feeling as if I was sitting in the cab of a train, hurtling toward a collision with another, while the man in the control tower looked on, refusing to throw a switch, expecting one of the conductors to step on the brakes at the last moment.


The atmosphere was summed up in a comment I made in late 1971 to John Osborne, in many ways then the dean of the Washington journalists. In reply to his observation that I was the director of the play (i.e., American foreign policy), I said: “I am either the director of this play or an actor in some other play whose plot they haven’t told me yet.”


The experience of being permanently in an eerie no-man’s-land was so unnerving that I had decided to resign as soon as the Vietnam accords were firmly in place, toward the end of the first year of Nixon’s second term. In early 1973, I had started preliminary discussions regarding a fellowship at All Souls College in Oxford.


Because Nixon’s method of governing guaranteed incessant bureaucratic competition and disagreements, he was obliged to institute ad hoc procedures for adjudicating controversies. Sometimes he would ask Haldeman—more rarely, John Mitchell—to settle the disputes he both fomented and resented. Or else the contestants would appeal to Haldeman as the associate closest to Nixon. But Haldeman was neither particularly interested in substance nor knowledgeable about foreign policy; his métier was public relations, and he tended to treat bureaucratic disputes as trifling deviations from the main message, in the process driving the contestants into even greater frenzy.


Nixon’s reputation for “trickiness” resulted from his need to balance his abhorrence for direct confrontation against his even stronger inward drive to live up to his foreign policy convictions. Preposterous as this may sound, what passed for trickiness was Nixon’s way of being principled.


Still, reconciling the requirements of the bureaucratic machinery with Nixon’s personal work habits proved a daunting task which was never completely resolved. It is in the nature of the bureaucracy to generate documents requiring decisions. But many of these decisions—especially arcane, esoteric aspects of arms control—bored Nixon. He preferred to concentrate on the core issues: the ultimate directions of national policy, the social basis of the protest movement, long-range policies toward Europe, China, the Midle East, and the Soviet Union. As a result, one of the many paradoxes surrounding Nixon was that, though a classic workaholic in terms of the sheer time spent in the office, he did not devote much of that time to problems of governance. Nixon tended to work only in spurts; sustained efforts, especially on routine matters, exhausted him physically and made him extremely irritable. He also had no hobbies to occupy his free time.


Spending much of what would normally be considered personal time in his hideaway in the Old Executive Office Building or at Camp David, Nixon would sit in an easy chair, his feet on a hassock, the shades drawn, commenting on conceptual rather than action memoranda and making notes on his yellow pads. To relieve the inner tension, he would call in one of his advisers to go over his notes and/or to recount again and again the battles of his earlier years, from the Alger Hiss case through the California election of 1962. These grinding conversations could go on for hours while the designated listener, frantic over the work and telephone calls piling up back in the office, yearned for some catastrophe to divert the President and permit one to get back to one’s regular chores.


A conversation with Haldeman illustrates the dilemma for Nixon’s advisers, whose incentives soon became exactly the opposite of the normal assistant’s ambition, which is to log the maximum amount of time with the President. Nixon’s aides by contrast tried to cut down their time with the President. In the process, they revealed something less creditable about themselves: the degree to which the emotionally exhausting White House atmosphere had robbed them of sensitivity for the obvious and all-encompassing loneliness of their President, who needed them as much to fill the emptiness of his life as for practical advice.


In early June 1972, Haldeman, who had already spent some days at Camp David with Nixon, tried to lure me to go there so that he could have a break:


HALDEMAN: Are you coming up to glorious Camp David?


KISSINGER: I was afraid—I guess I can’t escape it.


HALDEMAN: You want to escape it?


KISSINGER: Well, if I can leave early in the morning, it’s all right.… What does he have on his mind?


HALDEMAN: I think he just wants to talk.


KISSINGER: Okay, I’ll come up.


HALDEMAN: I haven’t talked to him today. I wanted to check with you. If it’s a real problem for you, I’ll see if we can smooth it down.


KISSINGER: But your judgment is that it’s better for me to come up?


HALDEMAN: If you can do it without really throwing you into a problem, yeah.…


KISSINGER: …Do I have dinner with him then or with you or—


HALDEMAN: I think so, yeah.


KISSINGER: The three of us?


HALDEMAN: The two of you.


KISSINGER: No, you join us.


HALDEMAN: No, no … I never eat with the big boys.


Though Nixon was generally leery of visitors, he did enjoy foreign guests. Presidential visitors from abroad rarely come to negotiate. Rather they seek reassurance or confirmation of a general course of action. This allowed Nixon to concentrate on presenting our overall strategy or his analysis of a particular situation, both of which he did masterfully. But even in his area of expertise, he would not meet a visitor without meticulous preparation to minimize the prospects of some unwanted or unanticipated direct confrontation.


My staff would prepare detailed memoranda explaining the purpose of the visit, the physical arrangements, what the foreign interlocutor was likely to say, our recommendations for the best response, the optimum outcome, and the dangers to avoid. Nixon would commit to memory either the entire memorandum or the part he thought useful. Since Nixon did not like to admit that he needed any staff assistance in foreign policy—and, indeed, he had an extraordinarily broad knowledge of the field—he never brought the staff memorandum to the meeting. Instead he would hold forth as if extemporaneously, not without sometimes skating as close as he dared—and closer than I sometimes considered wise—to the very subjects our memorandum had warned represented the areas of thinnest ice. Nixon liked to live dangerously and to show off his skill on the high wire.


On one occasion, the arrangement went awry, and it was the vaunted NSC staff system, not Nixon, that misfired. As part of some U.N. celebration, the Prime Minister of Mauritius had been invited to Washington. Mauritius is a subtropical island located in the Indian Ocean off the coast of South Africa. It enjoys plenty of rainfall and a verdant agriculture; its relations with the United States were excellent. Somehow my staff gained the impression that the visitor was from Mauritania, an arid desert state in West Africa which had broken diplomatic relations with us in 1967 as an act of solidarity with its Muslim brethren in the aftermath of the Middle East War.


This misconception produced an extraordinary dialogue. Coming straight to the point, Nixon suggested that the time had come to restore diplomatic relations between the United States and Mauritius. This, he noted, would permit resumption of American aid, and one of its benefits might be assistance in dry farming, in which Nixon maintained the United States had special capabilities. The stunned visitor, who had come on a goodwill mission from a country with, if anything, excessive rainfall, tried to shift to a more promising subject. He inquired whether Nixon was satisfied with the operation of the space tracking station the United States maintained on his island. Now it was Nixon’s turn to be discomfited as he set about frantically writing on his yellow pad. Tearing off a page, he handed me a note which read: “Why the hell do we have a space tracking station in a country with which we do not have diplomatic relations?”



The National Security Council System



When Nixon’s eccentricities have been accounted for, they must be balanced against the fact that, in the field of foreign policy, he achieved almost everything he set out to do. In the end, Nixon not only succeeded in recasting much of the foreign policy he found when entering office but in institutionalizing it in the sense that every succeeding administration, however different its rhetoric, returned to the main themes of the Nixon strategy—and some version of his NSC system.


The process was neither as secretive nor as solitary as the caricatures drawn by Nixon’s detractors describe it.10 Side by side with the somewhat surreal atmosphere in the Nixon White House, there existed an extraordinarily systematic and wide-ranging National Security Council process. No administration prepared for negotiations more meticulously or planned its long-range policies more systematically than did Richard Nixon’s, especially during his first term. Whenever the research of that history moves from the quest for the odd secret memorandum or tape to the actual documentation of serious policy choices, it will discover a sustained effort by the Nixon Administration to think about America’s long-range interests in a way that involved all the agencies. And negotiations—including secret ones—were, in the overwhelming number of cases, documented by verbatim records and long analytical memoranda. Since the advent of the Freedom of Information Act and of the culture of unrestrained leaking, no succeeding administration has dared to keep such a full record of its internal deliberations and international negotiations.


Moreover, few if any administrations have gone to comparable lengths to explain the rationale for their foreign policy to the American public, the international community, and to Congress. For four consecutive years, the NSC staff spent exhausting weeks preparing a summary of the concepts and strategies underlying American foreign policy. In addition, while in the White House, I gave weekly backgrounders. As Secretary of State, I visited thirty-eight states and made a major speech on some conceptual problem in each, in addition to holding press conferences and making television appearances. As Secretary of State, I testified formally and informally before scores of congressional committees. Anyone reading the annual reports and major speeches would have before them an accurate and detailed road map of our foreign policy design.


The trouble was that the material in our annual reports was practically embargoed by the national media, which, in effect, covered only the part dealing with Vietnam. To a lesser extent, this was also the case with my “heartland speeches.” The charge of Nixon’s alleged secretiveness—which was true with respect to tactics—ignores the vast educational effort as to strategy, in effect suppressed by the media’s deprecatory attitude toward long-range design and its obsession with crises.


Most of a President’s time is taken up by various supplicants: heads of departments pressing their case; foreign leaders urging a course of action or seeking guidance; spokesmen for domestic constituencies advocating their special interests or those of their ethnic groups. These points of view are largely tactical and geared to specific situations. Long-term issues make their way onto the President’s agenda only with difficulty and then usually as a result of some interdepartmental controversy. The outcome too often reflects the overriding desire to keep peace in the bureaucracy or with Congress, with conclusions phrased in platitudes that enable the various agencies to interpret them in light of their own initial preferences, thereby starting the cycle all over again.


This is why the conduct of the presidency almost of necessity involves a depletion of intellectual capital. Paradoxically, Nixon’s abhorrence of face-to-face meetings enabled his administration to deal with one of the most important challenges of modern government: to husband the President’s time—his most precious commodity—so as to give him the opportunity for reflection. Nixon’s schedule was carefully managed to allow time for the conceptual problems that interested him and the solution of which represented his greatest strength. The tactics of diplomacy and the details of negotiations bored him. But Nixon made the basic strategic decisions, if not crisply at least in a timely fashion, and prided himself—correctly—on his ability to “get ahead of the power curve.”


The Nixon Administration NSC system has been described as growing out of a “coup” during the 1968–69 transition by which Nixon, aided—if not manipulated—by me, centralized power in the White House. The word “coup” is surely inappropriate because, in the American system of government, power is inherently centralized in the White House. And it implies that there existed some accepted procedure inherited by each President. In fact, major foreign policy decisions in each administration have almost invariably been made by the President. Franklin Delano Roosevelt, for example, operated a process at least as centralized as Nixon’s and far less systematic.


Nixon’s decision-making process operated on two levels: the White House staff system peculiar, indeed idiosyncratic, to him described earlier, and the NSC machinery consisting of the National Security Council and a plethora of supporting interagency subcommittees. The talk about coup comes from defenders of an essentially parochial concern: which department should chair the various subcommittees of the NSC. In the Johnson Administration, the State Department had been in the chair—though, in the absence of NSC meetings, this concerned status rather than substance. Nixon moved the chairmanship into the White House, raising State Department hackles, though no one outside of Foggy Bottom much cared.


The architect of this change was General Andrew Goodpaster, whom Nixon knew and respected from the time he had served as staff secretary of the Eisenhower White House.11 Nixon asked him to devise a new NSC structure because, on entering office, the President found that the NSC machinery had fallen into disuse; Johnson made his decisions at Tuesday lunches attended only by three or four principals with no sustained preparatory staff work or systematic follow-up. Goodpaster was charged with reviving the NSC system on a basis that produced the widest range of options for the President. Goodpaster argued that, so long as the interdepartmental subgroups were chaired by the State Department, they would never enlist genuine cooperation from the Pentagon and other agencies. He therefore recommended that the National Security Adviser or his deputy chair the interdepartmental subcommittees. Eisenhower strongly endorsed this proposal when Goodpaster and I called on him at Walter Reed Army Hospital in December 1968. Nixon accepted Goodpaster’s (and Eisenhower’s) recommendations to the extreme dismay of State Department professionals, who blamed me for the loss of an essentially meaningless prerogative (never since regained in any subsequent administration). The best proof of the utility of the Nixon NSC system is that, adjusted to the personality of the incumbent President, it has in its main outlines been preserved by all successor administrations.


The Goodpaster blueprint produced an NSC system meticulous in assembling the options and open in developing its strategy but opaque with respect to implementation. The various departments participated fully and made major contributions to the development of the options. But Nixon reserved for himself the final decision and to act alone if necessary. He treated the formal interdepartmental system in much the same way some senior professors deal with their research assistants. He absorbed the product without necessarily committing himself to the perceptions of his subordinates. For the better part of Nixon’s first term—until my secret trip to China—the NSC process concentrated almost exclusively on long-range strategic options.


A network of geographic interdepartmental groups at the assistant secretary level met in the White House Situation Room under my chairmanship to generate option papers for the various regions. These then moved through a Senior Review Group at the deputy secretary level to the formal National Security Council, where Nixon would hear directly the views of his principal Cabinet advisers. Crises were handled on a daily basis by the Washington Special Actions Group (so named for a reason which now escapes me), consisting of the Senior Review Group, augmented by additional military and intelligence specialists. Given Nixon’s preference of memoranda over interacting with individuals, he would spend an extraordinary amount of time on these background papers, frequently writing comments in the margins. The Nixon Administration’s breakthroughs with China, the Soviet Union, arms control, and in the Middle East would not have been possible without the options produced by this network.


Where criticism of Nixon’s decision-making apparatus is valid is with respect to the way it restricted participation in the implementation of decisions. This was due to a combination of the resistance of the bureaucracy to departing from the conventional (liberal) wisdom and Nixon’s reluctance to overrule them head-on, as well as his compulsiveness about garnering the sole credit for foreign policy breakthroughs.


The Foreign Service has the best personnel among American public officials—dedicated, well informed, and, if led decisively, highly disciplined. But they start from the conviction that their elected or appointed chiefs could probably not have passed the Foreign Service examination. Hence they consider it their duty to persuade the Secretary and the President to their point of view and, failing that, to maneuver bureaucratically and with the media in such a way that their superior knowledge prevails by indirection. Their convictions are conventionally Wilsonian; diplomacy and power are often treated as discrete realms—and diplomacy as separate from any other area of national policies. Nixon was not wrong in believing that their instinctive reaction was to find him and his approach based on national interest uncongenial.


The supercilious attitude of some State Department officials toward Nixon can be illustrated by the reaction of the deputy chief of mission (DCM) in Tokyo when he heard a rumor to the effect that Nixon, in a conversation with Prime Minister Eisaku Sato in 1969, had hinted that the United States would not object to Japanese acquisition of nuclear weapons. There was not a smidgen of truth to that report; no contemporary document records such an utterance by Nixon either to Japanese leaders or to his associates. Instead of inquiring in Washington as to the accuracy of that report and, on that basis, either refuting the rumor authoritatively or—if accurate—supporting the President’s policy or resigning, the DCM took it upon himself to take care of the matter on his own: “We just quietly sabotaged the whole thing.”12 Only the conviction, reminiscent of what the Bourbons felt about the Bonapartes, that: Nixon was somehow illegitimate can explain so cavalier an attitude.


The single most important reason why this latent tension was never resolved was the appointment of William P. Rogers as Secretary of State. I say this not to deprecate Rogers’s exceptional decency and human qualities nor his abundant common sense. His influence was benign and always moderate. Throughout he behaved with a dignity shaming to those who systematically undercut him. In retrospect, I am not proud of the way I participated in Nixon’s deliberate effort to marginalize the man who at the time was considered by most observers to be the President’s closest friend.


Nevertheless, it was a major mistake to appoint a close friend to a post which, in the Nixon scheme of things, was bound to be highly subordinate. Given Nixon’s determination to dominate foreign policy both in conception and in the public perception—which he had announced in the campaign—he needed a Secretary of State who acted as either a principal negotiator of policies developed at the White House (like Warren Christopher for Clinton) or as the principal spokesman with Congress and the media (as Mel Laird for the Nixon Defense Department). But William Rogers was not sufficiently well versed in foreign policy to assume the first role, and he was too major a figure to confine himself to the second. As a matter of fact, Rogers had never been subordinate to Nixon to that—or, indeed, to any—degree. Quite the contrary, Rogers was the strong personality to whom Nixon had generally turned when he was in trouble and who supplied balance and reassurance during crises in Nixon’s life.


This raised a double dilemma: Rogers found it psychologically difficult to play the subsidiary role that Nixon had in mind for him; Nixon found it impossible to insist on it directly. The result was a whole series of stratagems by which Nixon achieved by indirection what he would not bring himself to order personally. Rogers, in turn, took the position that he would carry out without question any direct order—something which his long experience with Nixon must have taught him could not possibly be forthcoming.


In a way, the two old friends were maneuvering against each other without ever coming to grips with the real issues dividing them or even that they were maneuvering. It began during Nixon’s first week in office when he excluded Rogers from the greater part of his introductory meeting with Soviet Ambassador Anatoly Dobrynin. It continued on every presidential trip. Nixon would insist that a separate program be set up for the Secretary of State so that he alone, assisted only by the National Security Adviser, conducted the major conversations with his opposite number. As time went on, Nixon drew more and more of the key negotiations into the White House.


Though I surely facilitated these measures, they could hardly have been carried out toward an old friend had they not reflected the President’s wishes. Why then did Nixon put Rogers into the one Cabinet post where he would never be granted any real authority and for which he had no real preparation? Had Nixon put his old friend into a position so unsuited to his temperament and background because, for once, he wanted to be the dominating partner and to show Bill Rogers, on whom he had always called when he felt weak, just how strong he really could be? And this perhaps subconscious attitude may well have been given impetus because Nixon occasionally hinted—without elaborating—that when they were both practicing law, Rogers had outmaneuvered him in competing for a client.


Whatever the underlying reason, Nixon found himself with a Secretary of State who was in no position to manage for him the department that Nixon believed to be both ideologically hostile and socially condescending. Rogers had spent his career in the legal profession; he had not dealt with foreign policy in any systematic way. His general view of foreign policy never strayed far from that of the New York Times editorial page, which was also close to the dominant opinion in the State Department. He therefore did not have the conviction to impose Nixon’s will on his department, but he was also sufficiently unsure about foreign policy to challenge Nixon openly. The result of that strange relationship between the President and his Secretary of State was to unleash all the tendencies of self-will and of liberal bias in the State Department that Nixon had been determined to discipline or to overcome.


Marginalizing the Secretary of State was the worst way of dealing with Nixon’s dual purpose of establishing White House preeminence and obtaining State Department support for a new approach to foreign policy. The Foreign Service, sensing the discomfort of the Secretary and explaining its exclusion from decision-making to itself with the myth that its views were somehow being kept from the President, resorted to massive leaks or procrastination—the idea being to give Nixon a second chance to see the light. The President, in turn, interpreted these obstructions as a form of class warfare and as yet another example of the East Coast Establishment’s unending battle against him.


As a result of this ever latent conflict, NSC meetings under Nixon had a somewhat theoretical, almost academic, character. The President would verbally navigate between the different positions without tipping his hand, occasionally interjecting a sarcastic comment or philosophical rumination that involved no operational consequences. He almost never issued a directive on the spot, not even in the absence of a dispute or when a decision was urgently needed. Wherever possible—and he was extraordinarily ingenious in making it possible—Nixon would convey his decisions by memorandum from the Oval Office.


Whenever the President felt stymied by departmental self-will or was reluctant to overrule Rogers, he would have recourse to the back-channel—a direct negotiation through White House communications, bypassing regular diplomatic channels and forums. After a while, the backchannel proved so convenient that what had started as a procedure for getting around bureaucratic deadlocks became a way of life. At the same time, the raw material for the negotiations, however secret, invariably grew out of the interdepartmental option papers. Once I became Secretary of State, almost all key positions in the State Department were held by Foreign Service officers, and the backchannel ceased.


A few examples of the backchannel negotiations will show that the impetus for them was not Nixon’s failure to consult experts but his indirect method of imposing coherence on departments and experts who were thwarting his policies and whose views he understood only too well.


Secret talks with North Vietnam Politburo member Le Duc Tho had been initiated during the Johnson Administration by Averell Harriman and Cyrus Vance, the official American negotiators at the Paris meetings. Nixon continued these private talks for two reasons. He did not want to have to choose formally among the various negotiating options presented by the interdepartmental process because he was convinced—correctly—that the losing party was likely to leak its position, especially if it was the “softer” option, thereby magnifying his already serious domestic challenges. Nor was the State Department, battle-scarred by years of civil strife, eager to share the opprobrium for an outcome which was bound to be extremely painful and controversial. Even when Le Duc Tho showed up in Paris for his periodic visits, the State Department proposed no initiatives and seemed quite content to let the White House carry the burden of the dialogue.


The negotiations were, in any event, not all that “secret.” The State Department, surely in a position to suspect that something was going on when Le Duc Tho sat in Paris, never inquired—a very uncharacteristic posture. Summaries of the negotiations (sometimes quite selective) were sent to David Bruce when he was the head of the delegation in Paris and to Ambassador Ellsworth Bunker in Saigon. The Defense Department supplied the presidential plane flying me to France for weekend negotiations. And, after the event, Secretary of Defense Melvin Laird claimed that he had been familiar with the substance of the negotiations from intelligence sources—a statement which, if accurate, raises the unsettling question why these reports were never sent to the White House or were kept from me there.


By contrast, Nixon pursued the opening to China, from the beginning a key goal of his diplomacy, initially through normal diplomatic channels.13 In 1954, Beijing and Washington had agreed that Warsaw would serve as their official contact point. But there had been no contact since the Cultural Revolution—the better part of a decade. In 1969, Nixon ordered our ambassador in Warsaw, the extremely competent Walter Stoessel, to initiate talks with the Chinese at the first opportunity—if necessary, by approaching a Chinese diplomat at a diplomatic reception.


After an abortive beginning—during which an unprepared Chinese chargé d’affaires literally ran away from Stoessel’s first approach—the Warsaw channel warmed up. When, at an early stage, the Chinese hinted strongly that Beijing would welcome an American emissary, the State Department submitted a long memorandum emphasizing the technical aspects—for example, transportation, communication, and diplomatic status—of such a visit. It also suggested an agenda for the talks embracing such topics as U.N. membership for China, the future of Taiwan, trade and travel restrictions, and arms control—without placing any of these issues in a geopolitical context. The memorandum concluded by proposing that American embassies in Tokyo, Taipei, Moscow, London, Paris, Ottawa, Rome, Canberra, Wellington, as well as our consulate general in Hong Kong, be authorized to brief their hosts.


The State Department proposal, reflecting the conventional approach, would have aborted our policy before an American emissary could reach Beijing or would have saddled him with so many conditions and second thoughts as to guarantee a stalemate. With dramatic disclosures and a public uproar certain, Nixon sighed: “We’ll kill this child before it is born.” He was therefore relieved when, as a gesture to protest the American incursions into Cambodia in 1970, Beijing broke off communications via Warsaw. We used the hiatus to seek a more flexible channel.


When we found such an intermediary in Pakistan, Nixon was able to send me to China in July 1971 unencumbered by preconditions on either side. My assignment was to develop an agenda which would lead to a presidential visit to begin settling the fundamental issues between the two countries. It would have been impossible to move with such decisiveness and on so broad a front through regular channels. As on Vietnam, I can recall no State Department inquiry seeking to reactivate the Warsaw channel; the subject was obviously too controversial for those bitter days.


Whereas the backchannel negotiations on Vietnam and China grew out of Nixon’s concern over leaks and departmental timidity, those concerning Soviet-American arms control negotiations represented an attempt by the President to break a deadlock that had developed in the regular channels. After the Strategic Arms Limitation Talks (SALT) opened in November 1969, the Soviets sought to confine discussions to antiballistic missile systems which we were building; Moscow refused to discuss restraints on Soviet offensive arsenals to which it was adding nearly two hundred missiles a year. This one-sided Soviet proposal would have constrained American weapons capable of blunting the growing Soviet blackmail potential and in which, moreover, we were technologically ahead of the Soviet Union while producing a growing edge in Soviet offensive weapons because we had stopped our offensive buildup. Nixon refused this proposition and insisted on dealing with limitations on offensive and defensive weapons simultaneously.


Despite the one-sided nature of the Soviet proposals, congressional and media pressures to move toward the Soviet position multiplied. In the fetid atmosphere of our domestic debate, diplomatic deadlocks were almost automatically blamed on the alleged bad faith of the Nixon Administration. Our official negotiators, eager for some breakthrough, were moving toward a “compromise” whereby defensive weapons would be limited first and offensive weapons dealt with in a follow-on negotiation. Convinced that such an approach would forfeit our leverage and still reluctant as ever to confront his subordinates head-on, Nixon solved the problem by bypassing them. In October 1970, the President authorized me to send a verbal note to Soviet Prime Minister Alexei Kosygin via Dobrynin stressing that the White House would not approve any agreement which excluded offensive weapons, whatever might transpire in the formal negotiations. At the same time, Nixon offered to accelerate the Geneva talks if the Soviets agreed to link limitations on offensive and defensive deployments. After the Soviet leadership had agreed to the principle, Dobrynin and I worked out an understanding which was announced on May 20, 1971—the first breakthrough in the Strategic Arms Limitation Talks.14


A few other deadlocks—especially on whether to include submarine-launched missiles—were similarly dealt with in the backchannel. The talks that led to a guarantee of access to the beleaguered city of Berlin were likewise given a decisive impetus in the White House backchannel—though because this was a four-power negotiation, the procedures were even more complicated.


State Department opposition took on acute form during the India-Pakistan crisis of 1971 when the State Department, which was a full participant in all discussions, in effect sabotaged Nixon’s decision to demonstrate to China that we supported our strategic partners in times of crisis. It was three months since my visit to Beijing arranged by Pakistan. India, determined to humiliate Pakistan over Bangladesh, had made a de facto alliance with the Soviet Union and was now using force to achieve Bangladesh’s independence in full knowledge that we had already conceded the principle and were working on implementing it.


Nixon ordered a diplomatic tilt toward Pakistan to prevent a forcible dismemberment of West Pakistan and to show China that we would resist Soviet-backed military intervention. The State Department representatives at daily interagency meetings argued passionately that India was a more important country than Pakistan—a judgment we did not challenge. But, at that moment, our incipient China policy was more important than Indian goodwill. We judged that it would be easier to restore our relations with India than to remain inactive toward a challenge that might be viewed in Beijing as a rehearsal for pressure against China. I am not trying to refight the substantive argument; the issue was discipline and coherence. The responsible State Department assistant secretaries were passionately opposed and have expressed this in many forums. But their real complaint is not that they were ignored or bypassed but that they were overruled. From Nixon’s point of view (and mine), once the President had rejected the State Department position, the debate should have ended. Instead, it was moved by leaks into the media and Congress.


I have devoted this much space to a discussion of how diplomacy was conducted in the Nixon Administration because it explains the origin and rationale for our procedures. A combination of elaborate interdepartmental groups and dramatic diplomatic forays through various backchannels produced a novel mix for most of Nixon’s first term that was both dramatic and effective. Other Presidents had employed special emissaries, occasionally even on secret missions. Woodrow Wilson and Colonel Edward House, Franklin Roosevelt and Harry Hopkins are good examples. But no previous President had similarly combined personal diplomacy with systematic backup. The interdepartmental process produced option papers from among which Nixon and I were able to select the courses of action most compatible with our overall strategy without necessarily informing the authors of the decision until we had achieved a diplomatic breakthrough.


But the same method spawned many of the controversies which followed. For a few years, the system worked well. Since the departments were as yet unaware of the secret negotiations, they put forward their genuine views as part of the NSC process. Almost every proposal advanced in the presidential back channel thus had its backup within the interdepartmental process. None was ever generated by Nixon or me in a vacuum. For example, the formula in the February 1972 Shanghai Communiqué that “acknowledged” the indivisibility of China without as yet recognizing Beijing dated back to a position paper prepared in 1954 for Secretary of State John Foster Dulles which had been lying dormant in the files since then.


As it turned out, the procedures of the Nixon Administration worked best on single-issue negotiations and before the departments had come to understand that the actual management of many negotiations had slipped out of their hands. Once they caught on, it became apparent that hell hath no fury like a bypassed negotiator. The very individuals who had pressed us for greater negotiating flexibility so long as they thought they were in charge turned against agreements reached without their participation.


Within the NSC process, Nixon and I had generally sided with the harder line in interdepartmental controversies. But once the negotiations became public, an astonishing and totally unexpected reversal of roles took place. With no department having any real stake in the negotiations, each felt at liberty to claim how much they could have improved the outcome. The concessions we had extracted were taken for granted while compromises achieved with great difficulty were described as inadequate. The White House and I as the principal negotiator were now being charged with excessive flexibility, even “softness,” by the very people who had a year earlier chastised us for being obstacles to diplomatic progress. The White House first under Nixon and later under Ford was thereby gradually deprived of its traditional bureaucratic safety net.


The first hint of the new bureaucratic lineup emerged during Nixon’s visit to China in February 1972 while we were negotiating what later came to be known as the Shanghai Communiqué. Fearful of leaks and eager to receive sole credit for what he had every right to believe had been brought about through his own initiative, Nixon rejected the participation of State Department officers in the negotiating sessions between Foreign Minister Qiao Guanhua and myself. (For once I had urged the inclusion of the responsible assistant secretary, the extremely able, disciplined, and well-informed Marshall Green, who would be needed to shepherd the result through its various implementation phases.)


As a result, the State Department did not see a draft of the communiqué until twenty-four hours before it was to be published. Inevitably Marshall Green objected to some formulations he either would have succeeded in modifying or accepted in the give-and-take of a negotiation. Since we were eager to avoid domestic controversy or damaging leaks of a disagreement within Nixon’s traveling party, we asked our Chinese counterparts for a special negotiating session at midnight following a formal banquet to propose some of Green’s modifications. After a few hours of strained dialogue, the Chinese negotiators accepted several changes which, while altering little of substance, improved precision and mollified the State Department by giving it a stake in the outcome.


What had been an embarrassment in China turned into a full-scale bureaucratic stalemate in the aftermath of the Moscow summit of May 1972. The negotiations on SALT, however facilitated by the back channel, also revealed its limits. For SALT involved too many vested interests of both the Defense Department and the uniformed military to allow these issues to be settled conclusively in the backchannel. As a result, both the open and backchannel negotiations often took place simultaneously, imposing nerve-racking requirements of coordination on the NSC staff. Once the Soviets caught on, they sometimes tried to play the two channels against each other by putting into the open channel some proposals Nixon had already rejected in the back-channel.


A climax of sorts occurred when I was in Moscow secretly in April 1972 to prepare for Nixon’s summit in May. (The Soviets had insisted on the visit being secret, another example of their sometimes compulsive insistence on establishing equivalence with China.) Three negotiations were going on simultaneously: the “frontchannel” SALT negotiation in Helsinki, headed by Ambassador Gerard Smith; the still secret negotiation between First Secretary Leonid I. Brezhnev and me in Moscow to prepare a summit agenda; and other discussions headed by General Scowcroft, who was openly in Moscow to prepare the technical aspects of Nixon’s visit. Just as I was leaving for Moscow, the Soviets put into the Helsinki front channel a proposal Nixon had already rejected in the back channel. Nixon, in Camp David (partly to avoid having to tell his Secretary of State about my mission), lost track of who was saying what to whom. Some testy exchanges between Haig and me followed until my return when I was able to straighten out the misunderstanding.15


But the underlying problem remained. Once the departments realized that the White House could and would break the deadlocks, they lost their incentive to press for flexibility. By Nixon’s second term, his bureaucratic options were becoming constrained by the very successes of his first term. Every NSC meeting turned into a confrontation between the President (or me as his surrogate) and a united front of departmental opposition. Once I became Secretary of State in addition to National Security Adviser, my dual position turned into yet another handicap because it deprived me of a crucial mediating function. In a normal administration, it is the departments which carry the burden for publicly defending controversial decisions while the President basks in the glow of popular ones. By the end of the Nixon Administration, the opposite situation prevailed: the onus for most of the controversial decisions was shifted either to the President or to me.


Gerald Ford paid the price for Richard Nixon’s attempt to conform policymaking to one of the most complex and convoluted personalities produced by the American political system. It was a tour de force unsustainable indefinitely, requiring endless juggling on the part of the National Security Adviser and a deft high-wire act by the President. In the end, the insistence on solitary efforts prevented Nixon’s policymaking from reaching that special added dimension toward which he was groping: “Will I ever be known for anything but competence?” Nixon once asked me.


The answer was that Nixon was flirting with greatness, but a President’s ultimate achievement can never be a purely personal effort. Rather it resides in that intangible ability to inspire one’s society and one’s associates to aim for what they had always regarded as being beyond their reach. This Nixon was unable to do. His vision of the statesman as a romantic loner diminished his associates, and his perception that he was somehow living in a hostile environment—not always incorrect—caused him to spend more time fending off dangers than seeking to transcend them. Had Nixon wanted to culminate what he had begun so creatively and imaginatively in his first term, he would have had to return to more normal governmental processes in his second term. Yet I doubt that he could ever have brought himself to take direct charge of the machinery of government, and he was therefore bound to fall somewhat short of his conceptions.



Epilogue



The transition to Ford marks the end of my official relationship to Nixon. Still, a few concluding pages about our subsequent dealings are in order.


After resigning from the presidency, Nixon lived for another two decades. The first few years in exile were excruciatingly difficult for him. Few except his closest friends telephoned him, and he disappeared from the public debate except in the sensational stories regarding his alleged abuses of power. During this period, he and I often spoke on the telephone, and I visited him once in San Clemente. While I was still in office, when major events occurred, I would brief him; when I was under attack—which happened more and more frequently—he would call with supporting and usually very insightful comments.16


In February 1980, Nixon moved to New York and launched a spectacular career of reinventing himself as elder statesman. I hosted a small dinner to welcome him. For the first time, he sought to engage the Establishment. He would invite key representatives of the media and industry for an evening of discussion that usually turned into a briefing; he would send thoughtful little notes to authors of articles or books that caught his attention. Patiently and tenaciously, Nixon earned himself a position as a senior commentator whom, in the end, the incumbent Presidents—be it Ronald Reagan, George Bush, or Bill Clinton—found it to their benefit to consult.


Nixon began to deliver public speeches. I attended a few of them and marveled at how he used the occasion to overwhelm his audience. Pushing the lectern ostentatiously out of the way, he would deliver an hour-long speech forcefully and extemporaneously. Only the few Nixon cognoscenti in the audience understood just how much the sheer effort of it had cost him. They knew that, if it was an important group, he would have written out the speech beforehand or at least made a full outline and probably rehearsed parts of it before a mirror. They were participating in an extraordinary feat of memory and self-discipline, not a spontaneous effusion.


In April 1987, Nixon and I wrote a joint article. In it we raised questions about the proposal to withdraw intermediate-range nuclear weapons from Europe because we feared it might lead to the unilateral denuclearization of Western Europe and to a fissure within the Atlantic Alliance.17 We met or talked on the average of about once a month throughout this period, invariably for a discussion of the international situation. In 1988, Nixon hosted a dinner in my honor to which he invited former NSC associates and a few others. Beyond that, there was little social contact.


As Nixon developed new roots, he demonstrated the adage that, after a certain age, personalities rarely change. He continued to play his cards close to his vest even when the issues we might be discussing were no longer of ultimate importance or, indeed, of any importance. A good example was a conversation about where Nixon should reside in New York. A close mutual friend had told me that Nixon had put down a deposit on a cooperative apartment on Madison Avenue. Yet when we chatted about his planned move to New York, Nixon asked for my recommendation on a suitable residence as if all choices were still open and as if I was still working on a White House option paper. Not wanting to spoil his game, I reviewed the various avenues with him, making sure to put Madison Avenue far down on the list. Nixon rejected Fifth Avenue because of the tourists and the East River because “Pat hates water,” which was news to me. He walked me through the pros and cons of every avenue until, by a process of elimination, we reached Madison Avenue, which, by this point in the conversation, Nixon had elevated from a choice to a necessity. It was a nostalgic experience, reminiscent of many far more important occasions when I had seen Nixon turn an interlocutor into an accomplice. (As it happened, the co-op board—bizarrely—rejected Nixon’s application.)


Throughout, Nixon continued to suffer from what he considered the disproportionate recognition accorded to me. He dealt with it in characteristically romantic fashion by inventing the epic tale of how, at crucial turning points, it had been he who had stiffened my spine, reined me in, or overruled me. In April 1990, Time published an interview with Nixon in which he implied that I had pushed the Vietnam peace settlement in 1972 to help him win the election (and perhaps claim some credit for his electoral victory); that the “peace is at hand” press conference had been unnecessary—indeed he would have preferred not to discuss negotiations publicly at all; and that all along I had been more trusting of the North Vietnamese than he.18


For once I decided to confront Nixon directly in a letter, the full text of which is in the Notes.19 I began with a reaffirmation of the importance of our relationship to my life:


I read your interview in Time with a mixture of melancholy and amazement.


Melancholy because I shall always be grateful to you for giving me the opportunity to serve my adopted country and repay it for the safe haven from persecution for my family and me. And I shall forever consider it a privilege to have worked for a President whose role in foreign policy was seminal in charting the main directions of everything that followed since.…


Amazement because a host of factual inaccuracies escalated previous incorrect innuendos. If you wish, I would be happy to make available to John Taylor [Nixon’s assistant] the various memoranda, telephone conversations and other documentation that leave no doubt of the inaccuracy of these assertions.…


I then reminded Nixon that, on the day of the “peace is at hand” news conference, Hanoi had published the text of the agreement as it stood and had demanded that we sign it; that some response had been unavoidable, and that my statements had been approved in the Oval Office in detail. Nixon, I pointed out, had been as committed as I to try to end the war as soon as possible; indeed, he had personally warned Soviet Foreign Minister Andrei Gromyko in late September 1972 that the October 8 meeting with Le Duc Tho at which the break-through occurred would be the last opportunity to settle before the election.


I ended the letter on a reassuring, conciliatory, and even affectionate note that gave Nixon major credit, as he deserved, for the upheavals in the Communist world that had just taken place:


None of these tactical issues will affect what I believe must be the verdict of history: that in a desperate hour you vindicated America’s honor with a foreign policy which, under your leadership, set the basic directions culminating in the revolutionary changes of last year.


Nixon answered in characteristically indirect fashion. Having put forward one romantic version of history to Time magazine, he now put forward another one to me, this one involving my wife, Nancy. He had not meant to imply, he said, that I was on the “soft” side on whether to negotiate with Hanoi; this was the invention of the Time journalists. The contrary was true; if anything, I had been more of a hawk than he. As for our relative optimism regarding the prospects for negotiations with Hanoi, this was a tactical issue on which I had turned out to be right:


As you will of course recall, you often told me, as I have noted in my diaries, that: Nancy believed that in view of McGovern’s way-out position, our continuing to take a hardline on negotiations was politically helpful rather than harmful. While I shared that view, I often told you that if we could get the right deal before the election, we should do so regardless of what we thought the political consequences might be. If we couldn’t get the right deal, we should refuse to make an agreement even though we thought that the political effect would be negative. I believed that you shared that view then and still do.


There was only one area where we had a significant difference of opinion. I felt that you had more confidence in the negotiating process than I had. On the other hand, as I noted in my Memoirs, I had to admit, once you negotiated the Paris Peace Agreement, that you were right and I was wrong on this score.


After this exchange, we resumed our normal relationship. Nixon invited me to share the platform with him at a number of Nixon Library conferences. I saw Nixon for the last time in January 1994 when I was one of the speakers in Yorba Linda at the launching of the Nixon Center, a new foreign policy think tank now located in Washington. Former key Cabinet members spoke briefly: Bill Simon as master of ceremonies; George Shultz about Nixon’s domestic legacy; Bill Rogers about Nixon’s political legacy; and I about his foreign policy legacy. Nixon concluded the event with a graceful speech to a large and friendly audience. At the lunch following, I toasted Nixon on behalf of his former Cabinet.


A few months later, in April 1994, Richard Nixon died.


We had lived together through periods of hope and of despair, through fleeting moments of triumph and long domestic travails. Nixon could be exasperating, maddening, even treacherous. But the overriding feeling evoked by his death was one of sorrow. I was well aware of Nixon’s compulsive insecurity; at times, I had been its target. Yet, paradoxical as it sounds, Nixon’s endless machinations were apt to be forgiven especially by those closest to him and therefore most likely to be damaged by his wiles because we were also familiar with the sweep of his aspirations and aware that his most tormenting battles were with himself.


At that melancholy moment, I recalled an occasion when, from the summer White House in San Clemente, Nixon invited Bebe Rebozo and me to accompany him to his birthplace in nearby Yorba Linda. Once there, the President noticed that a Secret Service car and a press pool had followed us. Outraged, Nixon commanded privacy for himself in a loud and insistent voice—an event so extraordinary that both the Secret Service and the press violated all their standing orders and obliged. Enchanted by his unprecedented freedom, Nixon decided to take his guests on a journey through his youth—never mind that he and I, holding most of the nation’s secrets, were now being guarded by only a single Secret Service agent who doubled as our driver.


As Nixon showed us the gasoline station his family had owned in Whittier, the hotel where he had been selected to run for Congress in a seemingly hopeless race, and Whittier College where he recalled some of his professors affectionately, he was far gentler, more at ease, and more genuine than I had ever seen him. On the spur of the moment, Nixon decided to prolong the adventure by taking us to Los Angeles to show us, by way of contrast, the house in which he had lived for two years in the 1960s as a successful lawyer before he began his final quest for the presidency. There was only one difficulty. Nixon recalled the house being in one of the canyons behind the Beverly Hills Hotel, but, try as he might, he could not find it, even after searching for an hour in every conceivable canyon and development. And, in the process, the agitated, tense Nixon with whom I was so familiar reemerged. On the way to the presidency, Nixon had traveled many roads, but he had never managed to discover where he really belonged.


And yet it was this man, ridden by insecurities and assaulted on all sides, who had held fast to a concept of national honor, determined to prove that the greatest free nation had no right to abdicate. With a romantic and even lofty notion of the hero-statesman, he sought to overcome his nation’s oscillation between overcommitment and withdrawal. Though in the end he fell short of fulfilling his highest aspirations, Nixon’s goals were worthy even when the execution was occasionally flawed.


This is why his funeral on April 27, 1994, became a national occasion attended by all surviving Presidents, including Bill Clinton. And my eulogy came from the heart:


When I learned the final news, by then so expected yet so hard to accept, I felt a deep loss and a profound void. In the words of Shakespeare: “He was a man, take him for all in all, I shall not look upon his like again.”…


…So let us now say goodbye to our gallant friend. He stood on pinnacles that dissolved into precipices. He achieved greatly and suffered deeply. But he never gave up. In his solitude, he envisaged a new international order that would reduce lingering enmities, strengthen historic friendships, and give new hope to mankind—a vision where dreams and possibilities conjoined.


Richard Nixon ended a war, and he advanced the vision of peace of his Quaker youth. He was devoted to his family, he loved his country, and he considered service his honor. It was a privilege to have been allowed to help him.
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CONTROVERSY OVER DÉTENTE


If Harry Truman was the architect of the core institutions that won the Cold War and Ronald Reagan provided the impetus for the end game, Richard Nixon was the pivotal figure in the middle period. It was during his presidency that the main lines of American policy for the final two decades of the Cold War were put in place side by side with the extrication from the Vietnam tragedy.


By the end of Nixon’s presidency, the United States had withdrawn its forces from Vietnam on honorable terms. The threat of a Soviet blockade that had been hanging over Berlin for twenty-five years had been removed by an agreement with the Soviet Union guaranteeing access to that beleaguered city. The process of strategic arms limitations with the Soviet Union had begun. China had been brought into Great Power diplomacy, essentially on America’s side. That move had transformed Moscow’s geopolitical position overnight because it consolidated a tacit coalition of all the world’s major powers against it. A Middle East war had been surmounted, and the Soviet political and strategic position in that region was being eroded with each passing month. A peace process between Israel and its Arab neighbors under American auspices was under way. Probably the most abiding tribute to Nixon’s legacy is that most of the relationships and strategies launched during his presidency have sustained the foreign policy of all of his successors to this writing.


It is equally true that, by the summer of 1974 when Gerald Ford took over, Nixon’s foreign policy had become nearly as controversial as his personality. Liberals chastised the President—and me—for inadequate attention to human rights. Conservatives depicted the administration as overeager for accommodation with the Soviet Union in the name of détente, which, in their view, compounded bad policy with French terminology.


Each of these criticisms owed something to the discomfort evoked by Nixon’s ambiguous personality, but the overriding cause was that his foreign policy raised two fundamental philosophical challenges. Nixon sought to extricate the United States from Vietnam on terms he defined as honorable at a time when most of the intellectual and much of the political community wanted to get out of Indochina essentially unconditionally and the radical protesters preferred humiliation to honor or, more precisely, equated humiliation with honor.


Even more importantly for Nixon was that he was presiding over the transition of America’s role in the world from domination to leadership. For much of the postwar period, the United States was preeminent because of its nuclear predominance and economic strength. By the time Nixon entered office, our nuclear monopoly was dwindling, Europe was regaining vitality, Asia was entering the international arena, and Africa was being swept by independence movements. Dominance can be based on power; leadership requires building consensus. But an attempt to balance rewards and penalties inseparable from consensus-building ran counter to the prevailing Wilsonianism, which tried to bring about a global moral order through the direct application of America’s political values undiluted by compromises with “realism.”


Over two decades later, as these lines are being written, many of the themes of the debates of the 1970s have reappeared in the contemporary argument over America’s role in the world and especially its China policy. In this sense, the controversy over détente with the Soviet Union that blighted the Ford presidency was the forerunner of the contemporary post-Cold War debate over the direction of American foreign policy.



What Was Détente?



Anation’s foreign policy inevitably reflects an amalgam of the convictions of its leaders and the pressures of the environment. To understand the Nixon Administration approach to East-West relations—and the controversy that Ford inherited—it is necessary to describe the situation in which Nixon found himself.


Richard Nixon entered office in the midst of one of the gravest foreign policy crises in American history. Over 540,000 American troops were fighting in Vietnam, and our country was tearing itself apart over what Professor Walter A. McDougall of the University of Pennsylvania has brilliantly described as America’s first “Great Society war.”1 By this he meant that Vietnam was the first American war fought for no military objective. Rather, the strategic goal was not to lose in order to give South Vietnam time to create democratic institutions and social programs that would win the war for the hearts and minds of the population. Such a goal for a divided country, independent for only a decade, and in a society governed by colonialism for a century was a prodigious challenge in itself. What is certain is that the process required a time span of stalemated war beyond the psychological endurance of the American public.


To end such a war would have been bitter and difficult under the best of circumstances. American forces found themselves amidst three quarters of a million South Vietnamese allied forces and a comparable force of infiltrated North Vietnamese divisions and local guerrillas. A sudden unilateral withdrawal, for which our predecessors—who had never entertained the idea while in office—and the antiwar demonstrators were clamoring, had the potential of leaving American forces trapped between allies resentful of betrayal and adversaries determined to prevail.


Yet America’s deepest challenge was not the technical aspect of withdrawal; it was a moral issue even when presented in realistic guise. Nixon would not abandon the tens of millions who, in reliance on the words of his two Democratic predecessors, had cast their lot with ours. We argued on the basis of the national interest that, as the leader of the Western Alliance, our credibility toward both friend and foe was at stake. But beyond “realistic” considerations, Nixon also had laid down a moral marker that defined the limit of his strong desire to extricate the United States from Indochina. He was prepared to display considerable flexibility in negotiations with Hanoi—going beyond what had ever been suggested, even by the “doves” in Johnson’s presidency.2 There was only one concession we would never make on geopolitical and, above all, on moral grounds—to impose a Communist government on peoples who had joined the anti-Communist cause in reliance on America’s word. That, however, was the demand from which Hanoi would not budge and on which the peace movement came increasingly to insist.


The so-called peace movement, wrapping itself in the cloak of morality, insisted that there was only one ethical issue, which was peace on whatever terms, and that the fate of the population was irrelevant to that goal (or, in its more sophisticated version, that the peoples of Indochina would be better off if we abandoned them). In pursuit of what amounted to unconditional and unilateral withdrawal, the protestors sought to impose their views by mass demonstrations designed to paralyze the government. The protesters considered the very terms of honor and credibility abominations, the empty slogans of a flawed society which would repeat its errors over and over again until it was made to taste the bitter dregs of futility and humiliation. An “honorable” peace to unite the country was precisely the outcome which the protest movement sought to prevent. In its view, American presumption and vainglory had caused the tragedy in Indochina. It rejected the invocation of America’s role in preserving the global equilibrium as a symptom of a national obsession with power, and it denied that Nixon had a moral right to invoke the term “honor.”


To be sure, the Establishment figures never went quite this far. Paralyzed by the futility of what they had wrought, they simply wished to extirpate the Vietnam War from their consciousness and to submerge their mistakes in collective amnesia. The practical result of their emotional abdication was that they would not support any American negotiating position rejected by Hanoi, thereby depriving the American negotiators of a floor on which to stand.


At this writing, a generation has grown up which has no personal memories of the passions of the period. Some of its survivors suppress their memories; others devote themselves to revisionist history. But the fact that many, if not most, of the American foreign policy elite were promoting—or acquiescing in—an American abandonment of the premises of previous Cold War policy affected the future evolution of American foreign policy profoundly.


Pressures from abroad paralleled the domestic ones. Most of America’s North Atlantic allies were extremely skeptical about the war in Indochina. By the time Nixon took office, they had begun to question whether America’s alleged bellicosity might not threaten, rather than safeguard, their own security. A number of European leaders felt quite free to present themselves to their publics as apostles of peace whose primary mission was to moderate American intransigence in the conduct of the Cold War.


All this was happening less than a year after the Soviet Union had occupied Czechoslovakia in order to overthrow a Communist regime aspiring to a measure of autonomy from Moscow. Leonid Brezhnev had proclaimed the doctrine (bearing his name) which asserted Moscow’s right to impose ideological orthodoxy on the Communist world. Backed by a rapidly growing arsenal of nuclear weapons, the Kremlin was projecting an image of ideological militancy and military strength.


Such was the context of stalemate, tension, and frustration inherited by Nixon. For us to have launched the grandiloquent anti-Soviet crusade which our critics later (though not at the time) chastised us for not undertaking would only have driven our domestic crisis out of control. For, at the time Nixon entered office, the American public was drained by twenty years of Cold War exertions and the increasing frustrations with Vietnam. It had lived through two Berlin crises, the Korean War, Soviet invasions of Hungary and Czechoslovakia, and the Cuban Missile Crisis, and had already sustained over 35,000 casualties in Indochina. Americans were growing tired of defending distant frontiers against a seemingly irreconcilable ideological opponent in a protracted conflict with no end in sight.


Throughout his career, Nixon’s critics had portrayed him as an unregenerate Cold Warrior. But now that he was President, the liberals who dominated Congress and the media urged him to act to end the Cold War with policies as if he were one of their own. A widespread and vocal consensus, which had many supporters within the bureaucracy, pressed the new administration to initiate immediate negotiations with Moscow on trade, cultural and scientific exchanges, and, above all, arms control. Each of these, we were told insistently by Nixon’s historic adversaries, should be pursued on its own merits; any agreement with the Soviets, however limited, would contribute to an easing of Soviet suspicions and thereby reduce the danger of war. A “get-acquainted” summit meeting between Soviet and American leaders was perhaps the most popular proposal of all.


The conservatives remained sullenly silent. Shell-shocked by Vietnam and the domestic upheaval, they provided no counterweight to the liberal onslaught. A good example was the reaction of my close and trusted friend, William Buckley, when I asked him to help mobilize conservative opinion to counter the anti-Vietnam protest movement: “It is too late,” Buckley said. “That horse has left the barn.”


Another case in point was a memorandum from Deputy Secretary of Defense David Packard in early 1970. Departing from the typical Pentagon position, Packard recommended a new and urgent arms control initiative for the purpose of concluding an agreement by “mid-October or, at the latest, November.” Otherwise the congressional “squeeze on the national budget” was “likely” to cause “large reductions in defense programs, including strategic forces.”3


In the absence of a counterweight to the liberal consensus, the dominant theme of the public discourse was peace: how to achieve it in Vietnam, how to preserve it in the world at large through immediate East-West negotiations, how to protect it at home from the Nixon Administration’s alleged hard-line proclivities. At that time, of course, the neoconservatives who would later accuse us of softness on Communism were still on the radical side of the dividing line, adding their voice to the clamor for accommodation.


Nixon thus confronted a dual challenge: 1) to manage the extrication from Vietnam in a way that preserved American leadership and fulfilled our moral obligations; and 2) to define a role for the United States in the post-Vietnam period that avoided the extremes between abdication and heroic posturing.


Wilsonianism had involved the United States in Indochina by means of universalist maxims which had proved successful in Europe and were now applied literally in Asia. These were that the building of democracy could take place in the same time frame as the conduct of a guerrilla war; indeed, that the war need not be won and only be kept from being lost, drawing us into a conflict which could have no military end. And the traditional conservative version of Wilsonianism supplied no philosophical counterweight. Its vision of some apocalyptic showdown with the Soviet Union left us musclebound in the face of the actual Cold War challenges which our adversaries were careful to keep below the threshold of all-out confrontation.


Wilsonianism rejects peace through balance of power in favor of peace through moral consensus. It sees foreign policy as a struggle between good and evil, in each phase of which it is America’s mission to help defeat the evil foes challenging a peaceful order. Having prevailed, the United States can then devote itself to fostering the underlying harmony (in the internationalist version) or cultivate its own virtues (in the isolationist version) until the next discrete crisis arises—perceived not as a disturbance of the equilibrium but as a deviation from the moral order. Such a foreign policy tends to be segmented into a series of episodes and not perceived as a continuum requiring constant attention and adjustment, a quest for absolutes rather than as the shaping of reality by means of nuances.


The Nixon Administration strove for a more differentiated approach. Though he admired Woodrow Wilson, nothing in Nixon’s personal experience led him to share the conviction that great ideas could be realized in one grand ideological assault. Both Nixon and I enlisted our firm anti-Communist convictions in the service of a complex strategy designed to achieve our objective in stages, each of which by definition was bound to fall short of the ultimate ideal and could therefore be castigated as amoral. We viewed foreign policy as a continuing process with no terminal point, unlike the dominant view among liberals and conservatives, who were seeking a series of climaxes, each of which would culminate its particular phase and obviate the need for a continuing exertion.


It was not that either Nixon or I rejected the crucial role of the American democratic ideal either in our domestic cohesion or in giving impetus to our foreign policy. It was that we did not believe that ideal could be translated as a kind of mechanical blueprint for day-to-day foreign policy. Our values were needed to provide the moral fortitude to act in the face of the ambiguous choices and uncertain outcomes, which is how historical decisions present themselves to the policymaker. To avoid either overextension or abdication, the United States needed, in addition, the guide of a concept of the national interest. This we defined in Nixon’s very first annual foreign policy report to Congress on February 18, 1970:


Our objective, in the first instance, is to support our interests over the long run with a sound foreign policy. The more that policy is based on a realistic assessment of our and others’ interests, the more effective our role in the world can be. We are not involved in the world because we have commitments; we have commitments because we are involved. Our interests must shape our commitments, rather than the other way around.4


These general considerations led to a strategy which had the following components: (1) to extricate from Vietnam under honorable conditions; (2) to confine the dissent of the protest movement to Indochina; (3) to seize the high ground of the peace issue by a strategy that demonstrated to the American public that, even while pursuing the Cold War, we would do our utmost to control its dangers and gradually to overcome it; (4) to broaden the diplomatic chessboard by including China in the international system; (5) to strengthen our alliances; (6) and, from that platform, to go on the diplomatic offensive, especially in the Middle East.


Détente was one aspect of the overall strategy. An unfortunate label implying European antecedents, détente was designed to control a relationship conceived as adversarial, not to conjure up the blissful nirvana from which all tensions had automatically been removed, as later caricatures of it implied. Throughout, Nixon and I considered the Soviet Union ideologically hostile and militarily threatening. At once an empire and a cause, it was the only other power capable of intervention globally, the source of most postwar international crises, and the sole country capable of attacking the United States.5


Years later, Nixon’s critics, attacking from the right, alleged that he was “soft” on the Soviet global threat. They misunderstood the danger he faced. What most concerned the Nixon Administration at that stage was that the Politburo might come to view America’s turmoil over Vietnam (and later Watergate) as an opportunity to destabilize Europe and other strategic regions. The challenge was less the Soviet nuclear menace (which we were confident we would continue to deter) than that the Politburo might rely on its conventional superiority to spark a crisis and then, taking its cue from Hanoi’s tactics, alternate military pressures with peace offensives designed to mobilize the already powerful peace movements against an allegedly bellicose administration in Washington.


We were determined not to wait passively behind our ramparts while protest tore our country apart and our alliances weakened in the face of a diplomacy defined by our adversaries and paralyzed by the protest movement. Instead, we strove for a strategy which calibrated the benefits of restraint and the penalties to recklessness to keep Soviet leaders from mounting a challenge during our period of national turmoil. And if the calibration failed, the very effort would at least have demonstrated to the American people that the resulting crisis was caused by the Soviet Union—thereby bolstering support for a strong response. In short, we treated America’s travail over Vietnam as a temporary weakness which, once overcome, would enable us to prevail over the Soviet system when geopolitical isolation and a stagnant economy had exhausted its ideological zeal.


A briefing memorandum I sent to Nixon prior to Brezhnev’s visit to the United States in 1973 reflected this analysis:


Almost certainly, Brezhnev continues to defend his détente policies in Politburo debates in terms of a historic conflict with us as the main capitalist country and of the ultimate advantages that will accrue to the USSR in this conflict. Brezhnev’s gamble is that as these policies gather momentum and longevity, their effects will not undermine the very system from which Brezhnev draws his power and legitimacy. Our goal on the other hand is to achieve precisely such effects over the long run. [emphasis added]6


We judged the Soviet Union, seemingly so monolithic and so eager to demonstrate its military power, as in fact being rent by vast systemic upheavals. Such astute observers as Andrei Amalrik (whose article I gave to Nixon to read) were already calling attention to the fact that the Soviet empire was facing profound and congenital vulnerabilities.7 In the more than fifty years of its history, the Soviet leadership had never managed a legitimate succession. Leaders had either died in office (like Lenin and Stalin) or had been replaced by coup-like procedures (like Khrushchev). In each case, succession was followed by a purge. And the growth of Soviet military potential was draining the economy and driving it into stagnation. This is why, in the Alastair Buchan Lecture in June 1976, I said: “We have nothing to fear from competition: …if there is an economic competition, we won it long ago … In no part of the world and under no other system do men live so well and in so much freedom. If performance is any criterion, the contest between freedom and Communism, of which so much was made three decades ago, has been won by the industrial democracies.”8


In the process, the Soviet international position was growing more complicated. Tensions between Moscow and Beijing were escalating. Within weeks of Nixon’s inauguration, we learned of military clashes along the Ussuri River, which demarcates the boundary between China and the Soviet Union’s maritime provinces at the edge of Siberia. Soviet military forces all along the four-thousand-mile frontier with China were being reinforced. Even before we established contact with Beijing, we had calculated that the fear of a two-front war would impose growing restraints on the Soviet Union’s pressures on Europe as well as provide new diplomatic opportunities for the United States—as indeed it did.


Upheavals in Hungary and Czechoslovakia and a near-revolution in Poland in 1970 dramatized the tenuousness of the Soviet hold over its satellites. It had become popular to joke that the Soviet Union was the only state entirely surrounded by hostile Communist countries.


In the Middle East, the Soviet Union had been arming its Arab allies for a war it was well within our capacity to prevent them from winning. Therefore, our strategy in the Middle East sought to oblige the Soviet Union and its radical Arab allies to dissociate from each other or to moderate their diplomacy.


Far from conducting détente from a perception of weakness, the Nixon Administration was convinced that it had little to fear and much to gain from a flexible diplomacy in which the rigid Soviet system was bound to find itself increasingly at a disadvantage. Deprived of its ideological card, the Soviets’ creaky economy, aging leadership, and dearth of true allies cast it in the role of simply another power player and not a very effective one at that.


This view was put forward publicly in the first annual presidential report to Congress on foreign policy:


[T]he lessons of the last two decades must have left their imprint on the leadership in the Kremlin—in the recognition that Marxist ideology is not the surest guide to the problems of a changing industrial society, the worldwide decline in the appeal of ideology, and most of all in the foreign policy dilemmas repeatedly posed by the spread of Communism to states which refuse to endure permanent submission to Soviet authority—a development illustrated vividly by the Soviet schism with China.9


To be effective, a strategic assessment needs to be translated into an operating policy. This effort ran up against the perennial American controversy regarding the purpose of diplomacy. The then-dominant liberal group viewed negotiations as an end in itself almost regardless of content. The very act of dialogue, it argued, “eased the atmosphere”; each agreement facilitated the path for further progress until a spirit of reconciliation had supplanted the suspicions of the Cold War and made some of the issues that had dominated it less central.


The Nixon Administration rejected this approach. We were prepared for an intense period of negotiation, but we were not willing to let our adversaries choose the agenda or the conditions. Progress on issues of concern to Moscow had to coincide with progress in areas of concern to us. Therefore we insisted that individual negotiations, as on trade or arms control, take place in an atmosphere of Soviet political restraint, especially with regard to such long-standing trouble spots as Berlin, the Middle East, and Indochina. Two weeks after his inauguration, on February 4, 1969, Nixon sent a letter to this effect to his senior Cabinet Secretaries on the National Security Council:


I am convinced that the great issues are fundamentally interrelated. I do not mean this to establish artificial linkages between specific elements of one or another issue or between tactical steps that we may elect to take. But I do believe that crisis or confrontation in one place and real cooperation in another cannot long be sustained simultaneously.


I believe that the Soviet leaders should be brought to understand that they cannot expect to reap the benefits of cooperation in one area while seeking to take advantage of tension or confrontation elsewhere. Such a course involves the danger that the Soviets will use talks on arms as a safety valve on intransigence elsewhere.10


The Nixon Administration’s negotiating strategy toward the Kremlin differed from conventional wisdom in two important respects. Unlike the liberals, it did not justify its East-West diplomacy by a presumed change in Soviet motivations. In the President’s annual report on foreign policy cited above, we explicitly rejected the proposition that Communist leaders “have already given up their beliefs or are just about to do so.…”11 But unlike the conservatives, who feared that agreements might weaken American vigilance, we argued that the Soviet Union was more vulnerable than the free world to a long period of peace and more likely to face fundamental changes as a result of it.


We did not view the Soviet Union as a monolith but as an amalgam of ideological, nationalist, and imperialistic tendencies. It had been placed on the defensive by the combination of Khrushchev’s revelations of Stalin’s crimes and the Soviet repression of upheavals in Eastern Europe. In light of its vulnerable economy and geopolitical isolation, we intended to nudge the Soviet colossus into transforming itself from a cause into a state capable of being influenced by traditional calculations of reward and punishment, thereby at first easing the Cold War and ultimately transcending it.


By the end of Nixon’s first term, we had vindicated the strategy of moving forward on a broad front. The Soviet Union was being constrained from geopolitical adventures by the stick of our opening to China and the carrot of prospects of increased trade. In 1971, we helped channel West German Chancellor Willy Brandt’s Ostpolitik into a direction compatible with Allied cohesion by using the back channel to help negotiate the linking of West German recognition of the East German Communist regime to a guarantee of free access to Berlin, thereby ending for the rest of the Cold War Soviet harassment of the city’s access routes. In 1972, we were able to step up military pressure on Hanoi without Soviet interference. The Soviets went ahead with the planned summit despite the mining of Vietnamese harbors and the renewal of bombing of North Vietnam because they prized the benefits of a visit by Nixon more than ideological ties with Hanoi. And that restraint was reinforced by the Soviet knowledge that, in conditions of American-Soviet confrontation, the German parliament would never ratify the treaties with the U.S.S.R. accepting the postwar frontiers. It was also in 1972 that Soviet military forces were expelled from Egypt—as we had predicted in 1970. By the end of 1973, the United States was dominating Middle East diplomacy. A strategic arms agreement freezing the Soviet numerical missile buildup without modifying any established American program had been negotiated. Linkage had prevailed.12



The Attack on Nixon’s Foreign Policy: The Liberal Challenge



At this high point of Nixon’s and perhaps of American postwar foreign policy, the national consensus broke down. Beginning in 1972 and continuing for the remainder of Nixon’s term, a monumental domestic debate over the nature and the priorities of American foreign policy broke out. With brief interruptions, it has continued to this writing.


Many factors combined to produce this totally unexpected state of affairs. Perhaps the most fundamental was that Nixon and I underestimated the impact on the public psyche of the sharp difference between our approach to foreign policy and the Wilsonianism which had become dominant in the twentieth century. For his part, Nixon embittered the emerging debate by stressing in his public speeches (though not in our annual reports to Congress) domestic political rather than conceptual explanations for his foreign policy. Coolly convinced that the best way to isolate his liberal opponents was, in effect, to steal their program, Nixon could not resist rubbing it in that it was he—the despised, ostensibly reactionary Cold Warrior—who had, in fact, fulfilled much of the liberal agenda on negotiating with the adversary.


This tactic infuriated the liberals, who moved ever further away from Nixon by searching for such “moral” causes as human rights and more sweeping arms control proposals where they thought Nixon could not follow them. And it lost him the support of the traditional conservatives who might well have gone along with a justification of our policy for what it was—a way of managing the Cold War—but who considered co-opting liberal slogans as opportunism and began to look elsewhere for heroes. By being too adaptable, Nixon found himself caught between the two groups he was seeking to outmaneuver: the liberals, who accused him of being too Cold War-oriented, and the traditional conservatives, who charged him with being too opportunistic.


The liberals, having advocated greater East-West contacts, arms control, and increased trade for at least a decade, would have been normally supportive of these policies now that they were actually being implemented. And under the leadership of any President other than Richard Nixon, they probably would have eventually endorsed the substance of our policies, even while differing with the geopolitical approach with which we were justifying them. But Nixon had been anathema to the liberal community for more than two decades; the blood feud ran too deep.


The liberals’ first line of defense was to invoke all of their standard critiques. Nixon’s policy, they argued, was not going far enough and was indeed a subterfuge for continuing the Cold War. But given the broad front on which Nixon was proceeding, this argument held little attraction for any but confirmed Nixon-haters.


So it happened that, in the course of 1972, the liberals’ attack veered in an entirely new direction which enabled them to maintain their traditional moral critique. Though they had hitherto insisted that East-West trade, arms control, and cultural exchanges were vital to ameliorating the superpower conflict and therefore needed to be pursued in their own right, the liberals now declared war on the Soviet internal system. Unembarrassed by their previous rejection of the concept of linkage of foreign policy issues to each other, they now resurrected linkage with a vengeance by insisting that all agreements be linked to changes in Soviet domestic practices.


Shifts in the editorial position of the New York Times mirrored this metamorphosis. Over the course of a few months in the fall of 1972, they moved from unconditional advocacy of East-West trade and arms control—and attacks on linkage—into a stern criticism of any agreement that did not dismantle the Soviet domestic structure. On September 13, 1972, the Times was espousing its traditional liberal view that expanded trade “is sufficiently beneficial to both sides that it ought to be considered … on its own merits, independent of particular secondary disputes in other areas.”13


Within two months, on November 25, 1972, in what was a complete reversal, the Times was cautioning its readers that “it will be a serious mistake if American business, the Nixon Administration, or, for that matter, Soviet officials, become so eager to expand Soviet-American trade as to forget the continuing sensitivity of the American people—and of Congress—to Soviet political behavior both inside and outside the USSR’s borders.”14



The Conservative Critique



The liberals’ reversal of position was soon being echoed by various conservative groups. Convinced that the Cold War was a life-and-death ideological struggle, conservatives had never been comfortable with a wide-ranging negotiation with the Soviet Union because the mere fact of it implied some degree of common interest with the Communist adversary. In their view, so long as Communism retained its grip, any hope for restraint in Soviet conduct was chimerical. The conservatives would have been most comfortable with some variation of the original Acheson-Dulles containment posture of waiting behind “positions of strength” for the eventual collapse of Communism within the Soviet Union and preferably in China as well.15


The conservatives’ split from Nixon was a pity because we did not differ with their analysis of the nature of the Soviet system. Where we disagreed was in assessing its implications for American foreign policy. Nixon and I believed that refusing to negotiate with the Kremlin would spread the virulence of the anti-Vietnam protest movement into every aspect of American foreign policy and deeply, perhaps fatally, divide our alliances. Far better, we thought, to seize the initiative and control the diplomatic process. In the meantime, we would keep open the possibility that what had begun as tactics might evolve into a more reliable pattern of coexistence.


Nixon’s disagreement with the traditional conservatives was in the nature of a family quarrel; they resented seeing their historic paladin adopt the tactics and even some of the rhetoric of his erstwhile liberal opponents. In time, especially had Watergate not supervened, they might well have been reconciled if Nixon had elaborated his strategic design to his traditional supporters—as he surely would have in an undamaged second term.


What drove conservative disquiet into outright opposition was the emergence of the so-called neoconservatives. That they claimed even part of the conservative label for themselves was something of an anomaly, since, nearly without exception, their leading representatives had started out on the liberal side, most of them on its radical wing. They had disdained Nixon, passionately opposed the Vietnam War, objected to our military budget as too Cold War-oriented, and pressed for a more conciliatory approach toward the Soviet Union.16


Starting in the summer of 1972 and extending over the period of a year, this group grew disillusioned with the turn American liberalism was taking. They found distasteful the radicalism and lifestyles of the Democratic convention that had nominated George McGovern in 1972. And ever since the Soviet invasion of Czechoslovakia, they had become increasingly disenchanted with the Soviet Union. The 1973 Middle East War completed their conversion to geopolitical realities. They interpreted that war as a Soviet-Arab conspiracy against Israel and the industrial democracies and concluded that the challenge was best resisted in the name of opposition to détente.


Once they changed sides, their anti-Communism was intense, often eloquent. And they demonstrated a considerable affinity for strategy honed by years of ideological warfare on the left side of the barricades.


Many of the neoconservatives were (or have become) personal friends. I respect Norman Podhoretz, Midge Decter, and Irving Kristol for their important intellectual and moral contributions, and I like them enormously on a personal level. I had long been an admirer also of Daniel Patrick “Pat” Moynihan—even though his label as a “conservative” proved to be somewhat temporary. When I was appointed Secretary of State, I offered him the position of counselor in the State Department. I had recommended him to Nixon for the ambassadorship to India and to Ford as ambassador to the United Nations. From this last position, Moynihan went on to launch his political career, partly on the basis of opposition to my alleged views on East-West relations or at least in his idiosyncratic interpretation of them.


However painful their critiques might occasionally have proved when I was in office, these individuals and their colleagues made significant contributions to American thinking on foreign policy. They brought a much needed intellectual rigor and energy to the debate, which helped to overcome the dominance of liberal conventional wisdom. Once they reached office in the Reagan Administration, they conducted a strong and successful national strategy.


But there was also a reverse side to the single-mindedness with which they pursued their newfound convictions. When the neoconservatives first appeared on the scene, their defining experience was their own ideological conversion to the pursuit of the Cold War. Tactics bored them; they discerned no worthy goals for American foreign policy short of total victory. Their historical memory did not include the battles they had refused to join or the domestic traumas to which they had so often contributed from the radical left side of the barricades. When the neoconservatives moved to the radical right, they packed in their bags their visceral dislike of Nixon even though technically they were now on the same side. And they distorted the subsequent debate by a touch of amnesia about their own role in the seminal battles of which Vietnam was a symbol, if not a cause.


Vietnam accelerated what the United States would have experienced in any event—albeit more gradually: that power in the world was becoming more diffused and isolation for America increasingly impossible. As the twenty-first century approached, the United States would have to exercise its influence as the single most important and coherent part of an international system but no longer as the predominant country it had been at the beginning of the Cold War. The great initiatives of the early Cold War had been presented as “solutions” to the challenge they were addressing, often with a terminal date. Henceforth what was needed was a permanent American participation depending more on the ability to accumulate nuances than on engineering final outcomes in a brief period.


The realization was dawning that idealism could lead to overextension as much as bad calculation. Yet traditional American Wilsonianism rebelled against the verity that great goals in foreign policy generally must be approached in imperfect stages. And the frustrations of Vietnam compounded the disillusionment. The radical opponents of the Vietnam War had ascribed the failures in Indochina to a moral defect and had preached the cure of abdication to enable the United States to concentrate on self-improvement. The neoconservatives reversed the lesson, seeing in moral regeneration the key to reengagement. Nixon and I agreed with the neoconservative premise, but we also believed that the simple Wilsonianism of the early 1960s had lured us into adventures beyond our capacities and deprived us of criteria to define the essential elements of our national purpose. Those of us who had been mauled by the Vietnam protest were deeply concerned—perhaps obsessed—with avoiding a repetition of this paralysis. We therefore searched for a more sober approach to American foreign policy that would—as we repeatedly stated—avoid the oscillations between abdication and overextension that had marked the previous period.


The neoconservatives insisted that such an approach did not do justice to the moral dynamism of a society that had turned its back on the callous calculations of the Old World. In the process, they put forward not so much a new dispensation—as they claimed—but a return to a militant, muscular Wilsonianism. The fundamental aim of foreign policy as they saw it was the eradication of the evil represented by the Soviet Union without confusing the issue with tactics.


Where Nixon (and I) saw the greatest danger in creeping Soviet expansionism abetted by the Soviet superiority in conventional forces, interior lines of communication, and the umbrella of a vast and growing strategic nuclear force, the neoconservatives’ stated nightmare was some apocalyptic showdown, perhaps nuclear, over world domination. The Nixon team viewed the conflict with Moscow as a long-term geopolitical contest in which, together with our allies, we would wear down the Soviet system. The neoconservatives argued that it was possible to overcome Communism with a burst of ideological élan.


Since many of the neoconservatives considered even the NATO alliance as more an impediment to than an enhancement of American power, they saw far less value in defeating Soviet geopolitical encroachments on distant battlefields, such as Angola or Indochina, than in facing down the Soviet ideological or nuclear threat in some kind of definitive confrontation. This is why most neoconservatives failed to support the Ford Administration when Congress cut off aid to the desperate peoples of South Vietnam and Cambodia and to the African forces resisting the Soviet/Cuban intervention in Angola.


The neoconservatives’ inward necessity to break with their past made them oblivious to the context in which their prescriptions had to be carried out and made it impossible to incorporate the real lessons of Vietnam into the national consciousness. Whatever the theoretical validity of the neoconservative argument, the United States, just emerging from Vietnam, in the midst of Watergate and later with a non-elected President, was not in a position to conduct a crusade; in fact, the attempt to do so would have torn the country apart even further. By depicting the diplomatic strategy of the Nixon and Ford Administrations as a form of appeasement and our resistance to Communist expansion in various theaters as a diversion from the main struggle, the neoconservatives undercut the real foreign policy debate.


Until well into Ford’s term in office, congressional and media pressures were coming predominantly from the liberal side of the political spectrum. Senate Majority Leader Mike Mansfield periodically led drives to pull American troops out of Europe; Senate Foreign Relations Committee Chairman J. William Fulbright was challenging the alleged militarization of American foreign policy; Senators Frank Church and Walter Mondale were attacking the intelligence community. Some liberal Senators, such as Republicans Jacob Javits and John Sherman Cooper and Democrat Hubert Humphrey, endorsed our arms control policies but shrank from the defense programs necessary to give us leverage in the negotiations.


In the early 1970s, the option of what later became the Reagan policy did not exist. The obstacle to such a policy was not the Nixon or the Ford Administration but the liberal Congress and media. By training their fire on first Nixon and then Ford, the neoconservatives provided an alibi to those whose pressures had prevented a more favorable outcome in Indochina and whose legislation then caused its collapse and mandated an end to the Soviet/Cuban onslaught in Angola. The focal point of the foreign policy debate for the neoconservatives has been the moment at which they appeared on the scene, and they have so concentrated on a largely tactical disagreement with fellow conservatives that they have made it difficult to come to grips with the real lessons of the Vietnam tragedy.


Even after the neoconservatives had achieved major influence with the Reagan ascendancy, they continued their assault by insisting on a version of history that lures the United States away from the need to face complexity. According to this version of history, a group of accommodation-prone, European-influenced leaders was overcome by the knights-errant who had suddenly appeared on the scene and had prevailed in short order by proclaiming the distinction between good and evil and the revolutionary role of democratic principles.


Reality was more complex then and has become even more so at this writing. Ronald Reagan and his associates deserve much credit for the denouement of the Cold War. But the United States will not harvest the intellectual lessons of their success if it ascribes its victory in the Cold War to rhetorical posturing. Reagan’s policy was, in fact, a canny reassertion of the geopolitical strategies of the Nixon and Ford Administrations clothed in the rhetoric of Wilsonianism—a quintessentially American combination of pragmatism and idealism.17 In an important sense, the victories of the 1980s derived from a Reaganite variant—not a rejection—of the strategies of the 1970s.


The Reagan Administration did not abjure practical arrangements; for example, it signed a communiqué with China in which it accepted limitations on arms supplies to Taiwan. And, at Reykjavik, Reagan came within a hair of agreeing to the abandonment of all nuclear arsenals—a gamble on arms control Nixon would never have considered. In its operating policies in the Middle East, Southern Africa, and Central America and on missile defense, the Reagan Administration followed a course to a great extent charted by Nixon or Ford, which is why I and all former members of the national security team of both the Nixon and Ford Administrations supported the key elements of the Reagan foreign policy.


Nixon, Ford, and Reagan conducted policies that sought simultaneously to contain the Soviet Union, shrink its influence, and work with it as this process unfolded. But whereas Nixon had sought to legitimize these policies by their practical success, Reagan proved to have a better instinct for America’s emotions by justifying his course in the name of American idealism. Nixon attempted to teach the virtues of the national interest by evoking what he called a “structure of peace”; Reagan understood better that the American people are moved more by purpose than structure, and his policy declaration resonated with classic Wilsonianism based on democratic virtue. As a result, he won broader support for high defense budgets and geopolitical reengagement than Nixon was able to achieve or could have achieved in his time with the same appeal. (Reagan, of course, led a nation that had largely recovered from the Vietnam trauma and had grown disgusted with the humiliations of the Iran hostage crisis.)


The fact is that both Reagan’s inspirational approach and Nixon’s geopolitical perspicacity are needed to conduct a long-range foreign policy in the twenty-first century. Nixon, under the pressure of circumstances and perhaps his personality, probably overemphasized the tactical element. But Reagan’s disciples today, neglecting that Reagan inherited a psychologically recovered American people ready for a stronger course as well as a Soviet Union weakened by overextension (and by Nixon’s foreign policy legacy), seek to telescope a historical process into one climactic presidency. They thereby postpone the synthesis without which we will never fully grasp our challenge and the consensus that would be theirs if they could only leaven their righteousness with an understanding that history did not begin on the date of their conversion.


As the Nixon Administration was ending, neither the President nor I understood the depth of the neoconservative challenge. We considered ourselves philosophically close to the neoconservatives and divided from them primarily by a tactical difference. The divide arose, in our view, from a differing strategic perspective, not from a debate over “tough” versus “soft” options, as the neoconservatives claimed.


As time went on, it became increasingly clear that the differences went much deeper. On one level, there was an element of personal rivalry inseparable from politics. Many of the converts to conservatism had been activists in Democratic politics, which meant that they sought not only to develop ideas but aspired to implement them in the political world. Newly arrived in the conservative camp, they needed space for that ambition. Nothing was more natural than to elevate tactical differences into a matter of principle, thereby necessitating replacement of the group shaping existing Republican foreign policy.


But there was, in fact, a philosophical difference—though it took me over a decade to understand it. Our clash with the neoconservatives was not over the nature of Communism, on which we were very close, but over the relationship of moral values to the conduct of international politics. I thought moral goals important, even decisive, in finding the fortitude to navigate a series of difficult choices, in any one of which the pros and cons were evenly balanced and the outcome likely to be imperfect. The neoconservatives believed that values could be translated directly into operating programs.


Absent Watergate, a successful Nixon presidency might well have been able to use the high-wire acts of his first term to amalgamate the ideological convictions of the neoconservatives with the geopolitical insights of his own approach. But in the supercharged atmosphere of 1973–74, the attacks on Nixon’s foreign policy—especially on détente—began to merge with Watergate. Nixon lost his leverage in Congress and thereby the carrots and sticks without which there was no sustaining any serious Soviet policy. He never achieved maneuvering room for the sort of dialogue that might have reconciled him with both his erstwhile conservative supporters and the emerging neoconservatives. Since the attendant debate was deprived of a strong presidential voice, I was alone to face the onslaught. This turned my role into a political issue—an uncomfortable and, in the long run, unsustainable position for a Secretary of State. Damaged by Watergate, the President was in no position to resist what amounted to a revolt of the traditional Wilsonianism against his administration’s emphasis on the national interest.


The irony of it was that Soviet Ambassador Anatoly Dobrynin understood our strategy far better than our neoconservative critics. He wrote in his memoirs:


Underlying their policy toward the Soviet Union was a combination of deterrence and cooperation, a mosaic of short-term and long-term considerations. Both Nixon and Kissinger sought to create a more stable and predictable strategic situation without reducing the high level of armaments, which remained the basis of a policy that was essentially based on military strength, and on the accommodation of national interests only when they found it desirable to do so. Their arms control efforts thus disguised this policy of strength, but only slightly. Essentially, neither the President nor his closest aide proved able (or wanted) to break out of the orbit of the Cold War, although their attitude was more pragmatic and realistic than other Cold Warriors in the White House.18



Senator Henry Jackson and Détente: Strategy and Arms Control



Had the controversy remained largely theoretical, the uneasy alliance between liberal and conservative critics of Nixon would probably have broken down over their clashing interpretations of the evolving international situation.


What prevented this from happening was the emergence of Henry “Scoop” Jackson as a leader capable of forging a platform which both the liberals and conservatives could support. Democratic Senator from the state of Washington since 1952, Jackson had been Nixon’s first choice for Secretary of Defense. He had turned it down in part because he was hoping to run for President in the 1970s. Jackson was popular with the labor movement and had the respect of the conservatives because he was a staunch champion of a strong national defense. He had courageously stood by both the Johnson and Nixon Administrations on Vietnam. And, in 1969, he had managed the narrow Senate victory which approved the Nixon Administration’s missile defense program.


Later on, the fate of that program became one of the causes of Jackson’s disenchantment. He came to believe that he had been misled about the resoluteness with which Nixon and Defense Secretary Melvin Laird would defend the original “Safeguard” program. Opponents of missile defense in Congress reduced the originally planned twelve missile defense sites each year until only two were left in the 1972 defense budget. Jackson argued that the administration had not defended its own program with requisite conviction. Given the characteristic opaqueness of both Laird and Nixon, Jackson probably had some justification for his claim—though at worst Nixon and Laird had acquiesced in congressional pressures they had deemed to be overwhelming in order to salvage the rest of the defense budget.


Through all controversies, I maintained a high regard for Scoop Jackson. During Nixon’s first term, I occasionally had dinner at his house to brief him on our policy. And Jackson was an indispensable ally in the endless grinding battle to rescue the defense budget from congressional depredations—an extremely courageous stand given the prevailing trend within the Democratic Party of the 1970s.


A man of high principle, Jackson found it impossible to reconcile himself to Nixon’s tactic of seeming to adopt the rhetoric of his domestic opponents, especially regarding negotiations with the Soviet Union. Though Jackson’s aims remained parallel to Nixon’s and Ford’s—and he sometimes admitted it19—the Senator was enough of a politician to understand that if he wanted to be a credible contender for the Democratic presidential nomination in 1976, he would have to dissociate from Richard Nixon.


Jackson was stubborn and persistent. Once launched on a course, he was not to be deflected. And he was spurred on by the extraordinary Richard Perle, who became his principal staffer. Perle, who had not participated in the debates of the 1960s, was a passionate anti-Communist and one of the ablest geopolitical minds I have encountered. He now emerged as the chief designer of Jackson’s strategy of confrontation with Nixon. Far too intelligent not to have realized that some of the charges he was making were more cynical than substantive, Perle proved as steadfast as he was ingenious in pursuing his larger aim: to stymie the administration’s arms control policies by submerging them in technical controversies, to block trade with the Soviet Union by making it dependent on changes in Soviet emigration policies, and to isolate the administration by accusing it of indifference to human rights. By using such code words as “strategic equality” and “free emigration,” Jackson, with Perle’s indispensable assistance, took his stand on two issues which effectively put us on the defensive. On each issue, he skillfully transformed administration successes into liabilities by an extraordinary ability to manipulate vague, symbolic allegations.


Who could be opposed to the principles of “equality” in strategic armaments or to the desirability of free emigration from the Soviet Union? Absent Watergate, no serious observer would have believed that Nixon, with his strong anti-Communist record, would knowingly settle for inequality. The trouble lay in the elusive meaning of that term. Since the strategic forces of the two sides had been designed on the basis of radically different criteria and technologies, the very definition of “equality” lent itself, as I shall explain below, to endless controversy and obfuscation—a circumstance which Jackson and Perle deftly wove into a de facto veto over the actual negotiations.


The issue of Jewish emigration from the Soviet Union was even more arbitrary. The Nixon Administration had quietly introduced the issue into Soviet-American diplomacy and had succeeded in raising the number of emigrants from four hundred in 1968 to 35,000 in 1972. At that point, the Soviets imposed an exit tax on emigrants, triggering Jackson—who had played no role in our previous efforts—into the fray. He demanded not only that the exit tax be removed (which we supported) but also that the number of emigrants be tripled on pain of Congress denying Soviet trade Most Favored Nation (MFN) status.


Jackson never explained what made him think that the Soviet Union, which he was accusing of aiming for world domination with its strategic nuclear program, would submit to so public a challenge to its domestic structure without resistance—especially on an issue on which it had gone far to accommodate our demands. Jackson’s pressures were generating a crisis with Moscow at the precise moment when the American presidency was facing its period of greatest weakness since the Civil War, and the American Congress was systematically reducing our military budget.


Jackson’s assault gained momentum because Nixon was extremely reluctant to accept the fact that the Senator had turned into an adversary. Our first instinct was to try to meet Jackson’s criticisms. Thus when he introduced a Senate resolution in 1972 calling for “equality” in strategic arms control, I assigned two staff members to help him draft it, intending to use it as leverage against the Soviets in the next round of negotiations. Only gradually and very reluctantly did we come to understand that Jackson’s various pressures were designed to gut rather than improve our East-West policy. We agreed with Jackson’s suspicions regarding Soviet motivations, but we rejected the notion that, in a diplomatic contest with the rigid old men in the Kremlin, we were bound to lose—if only because it was so contrary to our own experiences with them.


The biggest impact of the Jackson assault was to make it that much more difficult for the United States to come to grips with the changed military environment into which the new technology had projected it. Jackson and his neoconservative supporters spawned the myth that Nixon was sacrificing American military security on the altar of arms control theory. The facts were more complex. Nixon faced three interrelated challenges: (1) an altered strategic environment caused by the growth of the Soviet missile force and the explosion of technology; (2) congressional resistance to high defense budgets; and (3) the negotiations on arms control, which had wide popular and media support and were needed to sustain adequate defense budgets.


Nixon had always been a defense hawk and remained so throughout his presidency. No Pentagon defense budget was ever reduced by the Nixon White House; no existing weapons system was ever abandoned in a Nixon-led negotiation. Where we differed with Jackson and the neoconservatives was with respect to their apparent belief that arms control negotiations could, by themselves, alter strategic realities. They were asking arms control to undo what had, in large part, been brought about by unilateral American decisions over the course of a decade and to make up for congressional refusal to back some necessary strategic programs, such as missile defense. These were impossible tasks for any negotiator, and they obfuscated the real strategic challenge facing the President.


The fact was that, long before arms control was invented, the evolution of nuclear strategy had been in the direction of the dead end produced by the widening gap between the destructiveness of the nuclear arsenals and any political purpose to which they might be put. That condition had become inescapable by the time the Nixon Administration took office.


From the beginning of the Cold War, the Soviet Union had benefited from the general impression that it possessed a vast superiority in conventional weapons. Its ruthless repression of the Berlin uprisings of 1953, the Hungarian revolution in 1956, and the Czechoslovak reform of 1968 reinforced the aura associated with the seemingly overwhelming numbers of the Red Army. But until the early 1970s, Soviet conventional strength was counterbalanced by America’s superiority in long-range nuclear striking power. That American edge was now gradually declining as a result of progress in Soviet nuclear technology. It happened in three stages.


The first was in the era of America’s atomic monopoly from 1945 to 1950 when the United States had the capacity to devastate the Soviet Union in defense of vital American interests without any fear of significant retaliation.


The second stage, lasting from the early 1950s to about 1970, began when the Soviet Union developed nuclear weapons of its own. Nevertheless, so long as the Soviet capacity to deliver these weapons remained rudimentary and America’s strategic forces remained so much larger and more capable, we retained what was technically called a “first-strike” capability—that is, in response to a Soviet conventional attack, we would be able to destroy the Soviet strategic forces and war-making capability with tolerable losses on our side.


The third stage began when the Soviet leaders reacted to the humiliation of bowing to our first-strike capability in the 1962 Cuban Missile Crisis by creating a large arsenal of long-range strategic missiles of their own. In less than ten years, the Soviets built 1,400 missiles in concrete silos to replace their previous force of some 210 highly vulnerable and rather clumsy missiles standing in the open. At this point, the cost of strategic nuclear war began to involve unacceptable levels of destruction for both sides, whatever the numerical edge of one side or the other.


These dilemmas deepened when, in 1962, Secretary of Defense Robert McNamara adopted the strategy of “assured destruction,” which based deterrence on the calculation of a level of civilian devastation that would be theoretically unacceptable to the Soviet Union. This essentially academic concept presupposed unlimited willingness to threaten civilian casualties; minimum estimates involved tens of millions. This professorial strategy calculated everything except the willingness to resort to it. Inevitably it created a huge gap between our awesome military capacity and the moral convictions of almost any foreseeable American leader. A deliberate all-out attack on civilian targets offended the most jaded moral sensibilities, while, at prevailing levels of strategic forces, an attempt to wipe out the opponent’s strategic capability would almost surely trigger a retaliation on our own civilian targets.


To the degree that these nuclear dilemmas raised American inhibitions to resort to nuclear war, they increased the Soviet potential to engage in blackmail, a problem which would inevitably mount as the Soviet nuclear arsenal multiplied. As nuclear strategy metamorphosed into a form of self-deterrence, the Soviet conventional preponderance once again emerged as a dominant threat.


This was the real strategic dilemma facing the Nixon Administration as nuclear warheads multiplied on both sides—not the arms control agreements being negotiated at Geneva which reflected them and could not undo them. Nor have they ever done so in any of the successor administrations. Nixon took a series of steps to improve the strategic equation: he ordered a shift in emphasis of war-planning away from civilian and toward military targets; and he built up our strategic forces by pushing the deployment of multiple warheads and proposing a ballistic missile defense to Congress—a forerunner of Reagan’s 1983 Strategic Defense Initiative (SDI), albeit on the basis of less adequate technology.


The revision of war-planning proved laborious. Secretary Laird was too preoccupied with preventing congressional depredations against the defense budget to give the attention necessary to adaptations of strategic concepts. In addition, the combination of congressional pressures on the military budget and of a technology generating ever more weapons systems caused the military services to be far more concerned with protecting their favorite projects than with developing a new overall strategy. While fighting for its life against a hostile Congress, the Pentagon was in no mood to risk its existing programs on theoretical controversies over the use of strategic weapons. The revision of the Single Integrated Operational Plan (SIOP), or strategic war plan, consumed the better part of Nixon’s period in office. And, by the time it was completed under Secretary James Schlesinger five years later, the increase in the number of weapons and improvements in technology prevented a significant reduction in civilian casualties even when the number of targets was reduced.


The buildup of American strategic forces faced determined congressional opposition in the Vietnam era. The Nixon Administration did succeed in fending off congressional attempts (led by liberal Republican Senator Edward Brooke) to stop the testing of multiple warheads—in technical terms, Multiple Independently Targetable Reentry Vehicles, or MIRVs—which was essential to balance the emerging Soviet advantage in the number of long-range missile forces, then and for the decade to come still equipped with single warheads. Since the funds for the project had been authorized during the Johnson Administration, Congress could not muster a majority to stop it. That did not, however, keep a sizable minority from harassing us on the basis of an assumption for which there was not a shred of evidence: that, if we forswore testing, the Soviet Union would follow suit.


Congress proved more successful in its opposition to the Anti-Ballistic Missile (ABM) defense system, which had been put forward by Nixon in April 1969 for both strategic and philosophical reasons. In an age of growing nuclear stockpiles, Nixon considered it irresponsible to leave the American people totally exposed to such foreseeable contingencies as accidents, small-scale nuclear attacks, or to the dangers arising from the growing nuclear capability of emerging nuclear powers. And he wanted to disabuse the Soviets of any temptations to risk a limited nuclear attack.


But the majority of defense scientists, the peace movement, and most of the media had grown committed to the unprecedented—and nihilistic—proposition that the total vulnerability of the civilian population was essential for a nation’s security. Making both nuclear powers totally vulnerable would, they argued, cause them to recoil from the brink. Nixon’s ABM system was soon being violently attacked for several largely incompatible reasons: that it would not work; that it would work too well and tempt a Soviet preemptive attack; that it would somehow damage relations with Moscow, never mind that the Soviet Union had long since deployed a missile defense system of its own—albeit not a very effective one.


Like water dripping onto a stone, the constant invocation of this dogma eventually carried the day in Congress as it has in essence ever since. In 1969, Nixon’s program of twelve defense sites passed the Senate by only one vote—the Vice President’s. In subsequent years, as noted, its opponents in Congress whittled down the program by annually cutting out a few ABM sites until only two remained in the 1972 budget. (Two decades later, the Reagan SDI program was to suffer the same fate.) Trapped into a system which no longer made any strategic sense, the Pentagon reluctantly began to treat strategic defense as one of our few remaining bargaining chips with which to curtail further Soviet offensive deployments.


In the face of all these obstacles, the Nixon and Ford Administrations did bring about a significant increase of American strategic power. By building 500 new ICBMs (each with three warheads), the Minuteman III, and 500 new submarine-launched missiles with ten to fourteen warheads each (the Poseidon), the United States increased the number of its warheads from 1,700 in 1970 to 7,000 in 1978. A new submarine—the Trident—with longer range and more powerful weapons was approved, and construction began in 1975. An entirely new intercontinental missile, the MX, was developed. The B-52s were completely rebuilt, and two new supersonic bombers—the B-l and the stealthy B-2—were developed, as was a panoply of long-range cruise missiles saved by Nixon (on my recommendation) from the Pentagon budget ax in 1973. Indeed, the vast majority of the offensive weapons in the American strategic arsenal twenty years later had originated during the Nixon and Ford periods.


What slowed down the buildup was not arms control but congressional opposition, not just in the 1970s but even during the Reagan buildup ten years later. When the B-l bomber was approved in the Nixon Administration, 240 had been planned; congressional pressures over ten years cut the number to 95. When the Ford Administration approved the MX, 200 had been planned; twenty years later, 50 have been deployed. The B-2 stealth bomber was slashed from 132 to 20, and the Nixon ABM program from 12 sites to zero; the Reagan SDI program has never been funded beyond a research effort.


The ultimate nuclear dilemma was that, even after all the buildup, the strategic arsenals were useful primarily to deter nuclear attacks and for little else. This frustration came to expression in an exasperated challenge I threw out—unwisely but correctly—at a press conference at the end of the Moscow summit of 1974: “What in the name of God is strategic superiority? What is the significance of it … at these levels of numbers? What do you do with it?”20


The theoretical answer was the destruction of the enemy retaliatory force in a first strike and the fending off of retaliation through missile defense. But in the real world, that capacity has never been developed, and the execution of it involved risks and calculations so complex as to be beyond the psychological capacity of most foreseeable policymakers. Neither the Nixon Administration nor any of its successors solved this conundrum.
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HENRY A. KISSINGER was the fifty-sixth Secretary of State. Born in Germany, Dr. Kissinger came to the United States in 1938 and was naturalized a United States citizen in 1943. He served in the U.S. Army and eventually attended Harvard University, where he would later become a member of the faculty. Among the awards he has received are the Nobel Peace Prize, the Presidential Medal of Freedom, and the Medal of Liberty. At present, Dr. Kissinger is Chairman of Kissinger associates, Inc., an international consulting firm.
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